
 

1 | 2 P a g e  

  

 
Cultivating Connection - Empathetic Stewardship - Seizing Opportunities - Intentional Adaptability 

 
REGIONAL CENTER OF THE EAST BAY 

BOARD OF DIRECTORS MEETING 
NOTICE/AGENDA 

 

 

Date:  Monday, March 24, 2025  Location:  Virtual call-in  Time:  7:00 – 8:30 p.m. 
 

 
Please click the link to join the webinar 

https://us06web.zoom.us/j/89585843231?pwd=awa1CqWV9biAYjDm2HaQ0wjLlyAIYI.1 
  

Dial by your location: +1 669 900 6833  
Webinar ID: 895 8584 3231  Passcode: 804435 

Board Agenda, Minutes, and Packet Located on our Website: Click Here   Link 
 

For ADA or other language accommodations, please email writetous@rceb.org by the end of Wednesday the week 
before the meeting. We will have simultaneous Spanish interpretation at this meeting.  
Board meetings are the 4th Monday of every month [no board meeting in July/August/December].  
 

   

I. CALL TO ORDER        Paré  (3 mins) 
 

II. MISSION, VISION, AND CORE VALUES    Paré  (3 mins) 
 
THE MISSION THAT GUIDES US: 
Driven by the belief that everyone deserves to lead a life of their choosing, RCEB partners with individuals with intellectual 
and developmental disabilities, their families, and the community, to create opportunities for independence and 
fulfillment. 
THE VISION THAT INSPIRES US: 
We envision a future where individuals with intellectual and developmental disabilities live and work, doing what they love, 
without limitations! 

    
III. CONSENT AGENDA       Paré  (2 mins) 

 A. Agenda 03/24/25 **  
         
 B. Minutes 02/24/25 ** 
 

IV. PUBLIC COMMENT        
  The Board welcomes comments from any person regarding RCEB's service and support to the East Bay community.  This 

Board meeting is conducted virtually via Webinar. If you would like to make a comment, click the “Raise Your Hand” 
button to request to speak when Public Comment is being taken on the Agenda item. You will then be unmuted when it 
is your turn to make your comment for up to 3 minutes. After the allotted time, you will then be re-muted.  Thank you in 
advance for your interest. 

 
 
 

https://us06web.zoom.us/j/89585843231?pwd=awa1CqWV9biAYjDm2HaQ0wjLlyAIYI.1
https://rceb.org/about-us/board-directors/board-agendas-and-minutes/
mailto:writetous@rceb.org 


 

2 | 2 P a g e  

  

V. COMMITTEE REPORTS  
A. EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR’S REPORT     Nanyonjo  (10 mins) 

 State Updates 
 Mason Tillman Report and Updates 
 Strategic Plan 
 Community Meetings 
 NCI Public Meeting Announcement – April Board Meeting 

 
B. BUDGET & FINANCE COMMITTEE     Nguyen (10 mins) 

 Monthly Status Report 
 

C. EXECUTIVE COMMITTEE/PRESIDENT’S REPORT   Paré  (30 mins)            
 Contract Approvals ** (If Applicable) 

  R&D Transportation Services, INC. 
 Conflict of Interest (COI) Policy **  
 Resolution for Exception to the 180-day wait period ** 

 
D. BOARD MEMBERSHIP UPDATE     Key-Lee (5 mins) 

 
E. CONSUMER ADVISORY COMMITTEE    Battles  (5 mins) 

 
F. DIVERSITY AND EQUITY COMMITTEE    Mumtaz (10 mins) 

 
G. PROVIDER/VENDOR ADVISORY COMMITTEE   Hogue  (10 mins)   

       
VI. PUBLIC COMMENT – Same format as point IV      
 
VII. ARCA REPORT        Paré  (5 mins) 
  

VIII. ADJOURNMENT 
 
 
 ** ACTION ITEM   
 
Closed session: (Litigation) 
(If Applicable) 



 

 

 

 
Cultivating Connection - Empathetic Stewardship - Seizing Opportunities - Intentional Adaptability 

 

Board of Directors Meeting 
Monday, February 24, 2025 

Virtual Meeting 
 
RCEB BOARD MEMBERS PRESENT:                  

1. April Key-Lee, Membership Committee 
2. Brian Blaisch  
3. Dan Hogue , PVAC Representative 
4. Frank Paré, President/Supports & Services Co-Chair 
5. Rose Coleman 
6. Sadia Mumtaz, Vice-President/Diversity & Equity Co-Chair 
7. Teresita DeJesus 

 
ABSENT: 

8. Nyron Battles, CAC Chair 
9. Renee Perls, Secretary 
10. Lisa Soloway 

          
STAFF PRESENT: 

1. Ashley Harmon, Executive Assistant 
2. Ben Braun, Associate Director of Early Start and Young 

Children 
3. Caylin Patterson, Director Of Human Resources 

& Support Services 
4. Chris Hanson, Associate Director of Client 

Services/Adults 
5. Cristie Raynor, Case Management Supervisor 
6. Daniel Bermeo, Case Management Supervisor 
7. Dr. Rebecca Nanyonjo, Executive Director  
8. Elvia Osorio-Rodriguez, Associate Director of Client 

Services/Children 
9. Genia Lindberg, Admin.  Services Manager 
10. Gina Rose Sass, Case Management Supervisor 
11. Helene Court, Case Management Supervisor 
12. Herb Hastings, Client Advocate  
13. Jenifer Castañeda, Federal Programs Supervisor 

14. Kim Limato, Case Management Supervisor 
15. Lindsay Meninger, Associate Director of Client 

Services/Young Adults and Federal Programs 
16. Lisa Kleinbub, Executive Director  
17. Lucy Rivello, Director Behavioral Health 
18. Margaret Casebeer, Case Management Supervisor 
19. Mariana Varela, Manager of Diversity, Equity, Access 

and Inclusion 
20. Michelle Velasco, Case Management Supervisor  
21. Michael Minton, Manager of Risk Management and 

Quality Assurance 
22. Ronke Sodipo, Director, Client Services 
23. Rose Casarez, Case Management Supervisor 
24. Shannon Barnes, Controller  
25. Steve Robinson, Director Community Services 
26. Xavier Corena, Case Manager 
 

 
GUESTS PRESENT: 

1. Andrea Sifuentes 
2. Angela Gattis 
3. Ann Pringle 
4. Assata Olugbala 
5. Betty 
6. Chris Aguire/DDS 
7. Connie Coelh 
8. Dave Amadi 
9. David Glasser 
10. Denise Bradley 

11. Dominique, FUFE 
12. Eose 
13. Geneva Carlos-Valentino 
14. Gilda Giron 
15. Glenester Irvin 
16. IPhone de Saira  
17. Jazmin 
18. Jenica Hadley 
19. Jenny Zegarra 
20. Joanna 

21. Kanaka Kannan 
22. L. Madoshi 
23. Lino Haro 
24. Lourdes V.  
25. Maria Ramirez, FUFE 
26. Maureen Fitzgerald 
27. Megan 
28. Morena Grimaldi 
29. Parents Helping Parents  
30. Patricia Albeño  



 

2 

 

31. Raquel Enciso 
32. Rosy 
33. Sam Lerman 

34. Sanasadat Shooshtari 
35. Sheraden Nicholau/SCDDC 
36. Sonia M.  

37. Specially Abled 
38. Vi Ibarra/CCCDDC 
39. Wendell James 

 
CALL TO ORDER            
Frank Paré called the regularly scheduled business meeting of the Regional Center of the East Bay to order at 
7:0 pm. A quorum was established after our first introduction of public comments/committee reports and the 
motions were revisited. Our Mission, Vision, and Core Values were introduced and added as a standing item on 
the agenda.  
 
PUBLIC COMMENT  

Regional Center of the East Bay uses Robert’s Rules of Order to guide our meetings.  Robert’s Rules of Order is 

the most used manual of parliamentary procedure in the United States. Robert’s Rules of Order is designed to 

provide structure and guidance while facilitating the orderly operation of a meeting. 

According to Robert’s Rules of Order, our board members are not allowed to comment, debate or respond to 

the public during our public meetings. There are other meetings such as our Diversity & Equity or Supports & 

Services meetings that begin at 5:30pm before the board meetings.    

Maureen Fitzgerald,  raised concerns about not receiving a response when she requested a copy of the CalPERS 
audit, which was listed as an action item on the agenda. She questioned the board's adherence to the Lanterman 
Act, stating that under the existing law, the public should have access to materials given to the board for a 
meeting. She suggested that the board should post the entire agenda packet online for transparency. 
 
Patricia Albeño, introduced herself as a representative of the Arc of California, a coordinator for the Congreso 
Familia conferences, and a parent of a young adult who is a client of the regional center. She spoke on behalf of 
Congreso Familia, a conference aimed at supporting Spanish-speaking families with children or family members 
who have disabilities. She highlighted the organization's efforts to provide education, information, and support, 
helping families navigate complex care systems, especially when services are not available in their language. 
Patricia expressed gratitude for the regional center's support over the years and shared upcoming events, 
including conferences in Pittsburgh and Hayward and a self-determination fair in Oakland. She also mentioned 
volunteer opportunities for those interested. Patricia concluded by thanking the board for their ongoing support 
of the Spanish-speaking community and expressed well wishes to Lisa, a colleague, and a welcome to the new 
director, Becky. 
 
Sam Lerman-Hahn, introduced themselves as a client of the Regional Center of the East Bay (RCEB), expressed 
frustration with the center's process for reactivating cases. After receiving an authorization for employment 
services from the California Department of Rehabilitation, Sam was informed that Toolworks in San Francisco 
required a referral from an RCEB case manager to officially take him on as a client. He described the difficult and 
unprofessional process he encountered when trying to reactivate his case, which included confusing phone trees, 
unhelpful voicemail messages, and unnecessary delays. Sam expressed frustrations with the system for being 
inaccessible, inefficient, and disrespectful of his time, particularly for individuals with auditory processing 
disorders. He highlighted the lack of services and case manager assignments after a month of trying to navigate 
the system. Sam requested that the board address these issues to provide more timely, professional, and 
accessible services to clients. 
 
Sanasadat Shooshtari, introduced themselves as a client of the Regional Center of the East Bay (RCEB), expressed 
her appreciation for the center's mission to support individuals with intellectual and developmental disabilities in 
achieving independence and remaining in the least restrictive environment. She expressed interest in becoming 
a board member of RCEB and continuing to support individuals with disabilities in leading fulfilling lives. 



 

3 

 

Additionally, Sana works at the Department of Rehabilitation and has a strong understanding of how both 
agencies collaborate to help individuals reach their full potential. 
 
Jenny Zegarra,shared her experience attending the Congreso Familiar, highlighting the empowerment it 
provided. She emphasized that each conference is unique due to the valuable regional resources shared by the 
speakers. Jenny noted the growing participation, particularly from the Latinx community, and the importance of 
unifying and sharing the knowledge gained at the event. She expressed gratitude and well wishes. 
Jenny Zegarra compartió su experiencia al asistir al Congreso Familiar, destacando el empoderamiento que le 
brindó. Enfatizó que cada conferencia es única debido a los valiosos recursos regionales que comparten los 
ponentes. Jenny mencionó la creciente participación, especialmente de la comunidad latina, y la importancia de 
unirse y compartir el conocimiento adquirido en el evento. Expresó su gratitud y buenos deseos. 
 
Angela Gattis,  expressed her gratitude for the support she received through Congreso Familiar, highlighting both 
emotional and resource-based assistance. She thanked Lisa for her involvement and dedication, noting that Lisa 
not only listened but actively participated in events and supported the community. Angela also welcomed the 
new director, expressing hope that she would engage with the community and contribute to meaningful change. 
She emphasized the importance of sharing knowledge and being part of the process moving forward. 
Angela Gattis expresó su gratitud por el apoyo que recibió a través del Congreso Familiar, destacando tanto la 
asistencia emocional como los recursos proporcionados. Agradeció a Lisa por su participación y dedicación, 
señalando que Lisa no solo las escuchó, sino que también participó activamente en los eventos y apoyó a la 
comunidad. Angela también dio la bienvenida a la nueva directora, expresando su esperanza de que ella se 
involucre con la comunidad y contribuya al cambio significativo. Destacó la importancia de compartir 
conocimientos y ser parte del proceso hacia adelante. 
 
Parents Helping Parents, expressed deep gratitude to the regional center for their support, especially through 
programs like Congreso Familiar. She shared her experience as a mother of a child with autism, emphasizing how 
the center's resources, education, and community support have greatly benefited her family. She highlighted the 
importance of feeling safe, informed, and connected with other parents through Congreso Familiar. The parent 
also thanked the regional center for creating opportunities that empower families, and she expressed hope that 
the new director will continue to support mothers and professionals alike. 
Una madre expresó su profunda gratitud al centro regional por su apoyo, especialmente a través de programas 
como Congreso Familiar. Compartió su experiencia como madre de un niño con autismo, destacando cómo los 
recursos, la educación y el apoyo de la comunidad del centro han beneficiado enormemente a su familia. Enfatizó 
la importancia de sentirse segura, informada y conectada con otros padres a través de Congreso Familiar. La 
madre también agradeció al centro regional por crear oportunidades que empoderan a las familias y expresó la 
esperanza de que la nueva directora continúe apoyando tanto a las madres como a los profesionales. 
 
Specially Abled, Raj introduced himself as a tech entrepreneur and parent of a 21-year-old autistic child, 
expressed his gratitude to the Regional Center of the East Bay (RCEB) for their exceptional support. He recently 
moved to the East Bay area with his family due to concerns about their son's future after they are gone. Raj, 
along with a group of parents, started a pioneering co-housing community called "Specially Able," which is 
inclusive, integrated, and multi-generational. He looks forward to partnering with RCEB to create a model for 
similar communities worldwide. Raj also expressed concern about the low engagement of the Indian and South 
Asian communities with RCEB and offered to assist in outreach efforts, including serving on the board to help 
engage these communities. He concluded by thanking everyone at RCEB for their support and expressed 
excitement for future collaboration with the new leadership. 
 
David Glasser inquired about accessing translations during presentations in Spanish. He assumed the Board was 
receiving a translation but could not see it and asked if there was a way for him to access similar translations 
when people speak in different languages. 
 
Jazmin discussed the importance of family learning, promoting, and strengthening their path together. She 
highlights how the family Congreso has been a unifying event, providing knowledge, understanding, and a sense 



 

4 

 

of belonging that motivates them to move forward. Jazmín emphasizes that by working together as a community, 
families can learn, grow, and act to create an inclusive future with opportunities for their children. She expresses 
gratitude to all the families involved for sharing their experiences and support. 
habla sobre la importancia de que las familias aprendan, promuevan y fortalezcan su camino juntas. Destaca 
cómo el congreso familiar ha sido un evento unificador, proporcionando conocimiento, comprensión y un 
sentido de pertenencia que las motiva a seguir adelante. Jazmín enfatiza que, al trabajar juntas como 
comunidad, las familias pueden aprender, crecer y actuar para crear un futuro inclusivo con oportunidades para 
sus hijos. Expresa su gratitud a todas las familias involucradas por compartir sus experiencias y apoyo. 
 
Wendell James reflected on the success stories shared during public comments, acknowledging that they 
highlight an equity divide in his perception. Wendell expressed a desire to share positive stories about success 
and meeting needs, similar to those heard at the regional center. He urges everyone to take note of the existing 
equity divide. 
 
Morena Grimaldi, shared that she has been absent from meetings due to her increased responsibilities caring 
for her elderly mother but is happy to be returning. She expresses gratitude to Lisa for her leadership as the 
executive director of the regional center and reflects on the positive exchange of ideas at the meetings. Morena 
acknowledges that while nothing is perfect, she found the enthusiasm and brainstorming for improvement 
encouraging. She wishes Lisa the best in her retirement and welcomes the new director, Dr. Nanyonjo, hoping 
they can continue working together. Finally, she expresses happiness about being back at the meeting. 
 
Sonia M., inquired if Chat would be enabled.  
 
COMMITTEE REPORTS 
EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR’S REPORT – Rebecca Nanyonjo,  DrPH, Executive Director 
Dr. Nanyonjo provided an update being this as her second board of directors meeting. She mentioned that there 
has been considerable activity at the state level, particularly concerning fiscal issues and mass deportations. The 
regional center has been in communication with various trade associations and executive directors, addressing 
concerns raised by clients and families, particularly regarding federal fiscal changes and the impacts of potential 
deportations on the communities served. 
 
Regarding fiscal matters, Dr. Nanyonjo highlighted concerns over upcoming changes, especially around Medicaid 
and the services provided under the Medicaid Waiver program. She acknowledged the uncertainty about federal 
funding and its potential impact on services in California. Dr. Nanyonjo also discussed ongoing efforts to work with 
trade associations and legislators to advocate for continued service provision under the Lanterman entitlement 
despite the federal challenges. 
 
Dr. Nanyonjo also touched on the issue of mass deportations, noting the fear and disruption these actions have 
caused in the community. While the regional center is working to alert individuals and provide support, they are 
also cautious about the risk of jeopardizing their funding by becoming an outlier in terms of compliance with 
federal directives. 
 
She then provided an update on the strategic plan, which was developed by the regional center in collaboration 
with the board, senior managers, and staff. Dr. Nanyonjo emphasized the importance of operationalizing the plan, 
which includes a marketing campaign to ensure that the agency’s vision is translated into tangible actions. She 
promised more updates on this strategic plan in the coming weeks. 
 
Lastly, Dr. Nanyonjo addressed the ongoing discussion around the Mason Tillman report, acknowledging the 
board's interest in the matter. She explained that while she is still familiarizing herself with the report, the center 
is committed to ensuring full transparency and will provide updates in the next few weeks. Dr. Nanyonjo assured 
that there would be a smooth handoff from the previous executive director and that the report would be shared 
with the board and the community within the next 4 to 6 weeks. 
 



 

5 

 

Overall, Dr. Nanyonjo concluded her report in about nine minutes and thanked the board for their attention. 
 
CONSENT AGENDA / MINUTES 
M/S/C “The Board moves to approve the February 24, 2025 Agenda as presented”  

[Dan/Rose]   Unanimous - The motion was adopted.  
 
M/S/C  “The Board moves to approve the January 27, 2025 Minutes”.          

 (Dan/Brian] Discussion occurred with requests to make public comments written in the third 
person throughout the public comment minutes - The motion was adopted with corrections in 
areas discussed.  

 
CALPERS AUDIT: Frank Paré, President 
Mr. Paré provided an update regarding the CalPERS audit, emphasizing that this matter was discussed in the 
previous board meeting. He mentioned that a packet of materials had been distributed to the board members 
about a week prior, containing 15 PDFs for review. The key issue at hand was ensuring compliance with California 
Code of Regulation Section 570.5, which governs how CalPERS calculates retirement benefits based on 
compensation and earnings. Mr. Paré clarified that the board’s role to ensure RCEB pay schedules meet the 
requirements for Publicly Available Pay Schedule (CCR 570.5), and to approve the pay schedules from the audit 
period; July 1, 2021, to February 2024. After confirming that the board members had reviewed the documents, 
Mr. Paré moved to entertain a motion to approve the pay schedules as outlined in the audit. 
 
M/S/C   [Dan/Brian] – Discussion occurred clarifying the Board’s role with reviewing the documents 

and that this information is posted on RCEB’s website under transparency.  
 Unanimous - The motion was adopted 
 

CONSERVATORSHIP BOARD POLICY,  LISA KLEINBUB, EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR 
Ms. Kleinbub explains the process of conservatorships for individuals who have been legally assigned someone 
other than themselves to make medical decisions and oversee their rights. Many of these individuals were 
once residents of developmental centers. Due to concerns raised over regional centers' roles in monitoring 
conservatorships, DDS issued a directive that a different staff member should handle this responsibility, 
separate from case managers. Ms. Kleinbub requests the Board's approval of a new delegated conservatorship 
policy, which includes monitoring and oversight of conservatorships for approximately 15 individuals. 
Mr. Pare asks for clarification on whether the motion is to approve the policy. After some discussion, the 
motion to approve the delegated conservatorship policy is proposed by Mr. Hogue, seconded by Mr. Blaisch, 
and opened for further discussion. 
 
Mr. Pare raises concerns regarding the duty of loyalty of the staff overseeing conservatorships. Ms. Kleinbub 
clarifies that the duty of loyalty lies with the individuals under conservatorship, and the staff will not carry the 
case management responsibilities. Mr. Hogue suggests adding language to emphasize the duty of loyalty to 
the client. Ms. Kleinbub agrees to include this and also mentions that the policy is focused on monitoring, not 
financial management. 
 
Mr. Blaisch comments on the broader issue of individuals in group homes who might need conservatorship or 
someone overseeing their decision-making, especially regarding medication and care. Ms. Kleinbub explains 
that group homes should not claim guardianship, and that supported decision-making may be an alternative to 
formal conservatorship for some individuals. 
 
Ms. Key-Lee asks for details on how the monitoring of conservatorships is documented, which Ms. Kleinbub 
responds to by stating that DDS requires specific forms for reporting, which can be shared with the Board. 
 
After further discussion, Mr. Pare suggests approving the policy with the understanding that some additional 
tweaks will be made, including the revisions discussed. He proposes that the final document, including those 
changes, be shared with the Board for review before the policy is officially adopted. Mr. Hogue raises the point 



 

6 

 

that any votes taken outside of meetings (e.g., via email) should be documented in the minutes. Mr. Pare 
agrees but focuses on the approval of the policy now, with the final changes to be reviewed later. In the end, 
the Board reaches a consensus to approve the policy with the amendments and have the final document 
reviewed at a later stage. 

 
M/S/C   [Dan/Brian] – Discussion occurred with board members.  

Unanimous - The motion was adopted.  
 
BUDGET AND FINANCE COMMITTEE – Shannon Barnes, Controller  

 
PURCHASE OF SERVICE 
Through January 2025, we have expended $472M, or 52% of the total POS budget of $903M for FY24-25. This 
can be compared to $402M, or 45% of total POS budget of $759M in prior fiscal year.  
 
As reported in previous months, due to the changes in authorizations for the implementation of the rate reform 
effective January 1st, 2025, DDS has paused requiring the Regional Centers to submit Purchase of Services 
Expenditures Projection (PEP) reports until further notice. DDS has issued several directives regarding these 
changes in service codes and sub codes for regional centers to work with the vendors from now until March 
31, 2025.  Therefore, we can only track actual spending against total budget and will report to the Board when 
a PEP can be completed. 
 
    
For CPP POS Expenditures, RCEB received preliminarily $100k for placement and have spent $264k to date.  We 
are still waiting for DDS to approve the final CPP/CRDP plan with funding allocation in the upcoming A-2 
amendment.   
 
The graph POS cumulative Actuals versus Budget shows POS expenditures trending month-over month 
compared to the overall budget for FY 24-25.   
 

 
 

 
 
 
 
 
OPERATIONS 



 

7 

 

 
The Agency completed its FY 24-25 budget for Operations (OPS) for $86M. This OPS budget included 
preliminarily allocation of CPP/CRDP funding of $1.2M and any remaining funding will be included in the A-2 
amendment.   
 
Through January 2025, we have expended $39M, or 45% of the $86M budget, which is comparable to the $31M 
or 40% of $78M for FY23-24 at this time.   
 
Since the prior reporting on the employee headcount in November, RCEB has hired 28 employees and the 
headcount as of January 31, 2025 was 593. The last job fair was held on January 28, 2025 in Concord; we had 
30 potential candidates attend, and 20 job offers are expected to be extended as a result. These potential hires 
are not reflected in the chart below. We will continue to aggressively hire from now until the end of fiscal year 
in effort to further reduce our caseloads.  
  

 
 
RCEB will do the Caseload ratios calculation as of March 1st as regularly required by DDS.  The Staff will report 
to the Board at next month’s Board meeting.   
 
The graph OPS cumulative Actuals versus Budget below shows OPS expenditures trending month-over-month 
compared to the overall budget for FY24-25.   
 

 
 
The additional graphs are provided for informational and comparison purposes (see attached files) 
 

 Operations actual versus budget as compared to January 31, 2024. 

 Operations 6 months YTD for the last 5 fiscal years. 

 Purchase of Services actual versus budget as compared to January 31, 2024 is not included since POS 
budget information is not available. 



 

8 

 

 Purchase of Services 6 months YTD for the last 5 fiscal years. 
 
MEDICAID WAIVER AUDIT 
 
The staff is informing the Board and the Budget and Finance Committee that starting February 10, 2025, DDS is 
conducting the biennial review of the Agency’s Medicaid Waiver cases in accordance with the Home and 
Community-Based Services (HCBS) Regulation. They plan to complete the review in 2 weeks, with the 1st week 
working remotely reviewing client files and the 2nd week completing in-person site visits with our day program 
and residential vendors. The results of the audit will be reported in a future board meeting.   
 
EXECUTIVE COMMITTEE REPORT/PRESIDENT’S REPORT:  Frank Paré, President 
 
CONTRACT APPROVAL 
[Note: The contracts were submitted to the board of directors prior to the board meeting for their review and 
opportunity to ask questions and provide comments.] 
 
Not Applicable this meeting.  
 
MEMBERSHIP DEVELOPMENT COMMITTEE:  April Key-Lee 
Ms. Key-Lee provided an update on the membership status of the Regional Center of the East Bay Board. She 
mentioned that five board members, including Dr. Brian, Frank, Lisa, Teresita, and Renee Perls (the board 
secretary), are completing their final term this year. A majority vote was held electronically in February 2025, 
confirming their last term (7 years). Ms. Key-Lee also highlighted that next year; there will be open positions on 
the board. They are specifically seeking new members from Contra Costa County, as well as Spanish-speaking or 
Latinx individuals. She encouraged anyone interested, including parents, family members, or clients of the regional 
center, to review the informational page for potential candidates. She also emphasized that the board members 
are volunteers who dedicate their time to the role and reminded everyone of the fiduciary responsibilities of the 
board. Please check our website and read about the board and e-mail your interest: https://www.rceb.org/about-
us/board-directors/members/ 
 
CONSUMER ADVISORY COMMITTEE [CAC]: Nyron Battles 
During the meeting, Chris Hanson provided a brief recap in lieu of Mr. Battles of the previous CAC meeting. She 
mentioned that Herb Hastings, a consumer advocate from the Regional Center, gave a presentation on 
transportation, including topics like public transportation and the use of Clipper cards. Following the 
presentation, Nyron gave typical updates from the prior board meeting, and there were announcements about 
upcoming community events.  
 
SUPPORTS AND SERVICES COMMITTEE:  Frank Paré, President 
Mr. Paré provided an update on the recent Support and Services meeting. He highlighted a report from Steve 
about housing developments, including securing 12 set-aside units in Berkeley and Castro Valley. The discussion 
also covered challenges in housing individuals with destructive behaviors and the need for strong community 
partnerships to engage with housing developers and authorities. Mr. Paré shared his surprise about the lottery 
system for housing vouchers, which requires individuals to reapply annually if they don't secure housing. The 
conversation also addressed the ongoing housing crisis and the importance of regularly updating the board 
about housing progress. Mr. Paré emphasized using Support and Services meetings as a forum for parents to 
share their experiences and concerns, offering an opportunity for more in-depth conversations rather than just 
brief public comments. He encouraged addressing misunderstandings or deeper concerns within the 
community. The discussion also touched on incorporating the strategic plan and aligning it with support and 
service goals, particularly focusing on person-centered metrics. Several parents shared their challenges, and Mr. 
Paré noted that this provided valuable insights into potential areas for better communication, policy clarity, and 
achievable accomplishments. He stressed the importance of identifying tangible goals and improvements over 
the year.  Looking ahead, Mr. Paré announced the next Support and Services meeting would be in April and 

https://www.rceb.org/about-us/board-directors/members/
https://www.rceb.org/about-us/board-directors/members/


 

9 

 

reiterated the meeting’s role in offering a platform for parents to discuss issues and foster better understanding 
within the regional center system. 
 
PROVIDER/VENDOR ADVISORY COMMITTEE [PVAC]: Dan Hogue 
Mr. Hogue provided an update on the recent PVAC meeting, held on the 14th. He highlighted Ms. Becky’s 
outstanding presentation, where she shared important updates, including potential threats to funding at the 
federal level, especially in Medicaid. While the region is secure until the end of the fiscal year, Mr. Hogue noted 
that the federal budget cycle begins in October, and the state government is monitoring the situation. The 
Governor’s office and the Legislature are expected to assess the impact in May. Ms. Becky also discussed 
strategies being explored at the regional centers, such as potentially leaving positions unfilled. She emphasized 
efforts to collaborate with ARCA to maintain services. Mr. Hogue further detailed updates on the standardization 
of the vendor packet across regional centers, aiming for consistency. Piloting of this initiative will begin in June 
and July. Additionally, there were updates regarding the provider portal. Mr. Hogue noted concerns over 
providers receiving their full rates and the slow pace of updates from DDS, affecting implementation. He also 
mentioned the transition rates for 2025, as well as ongoing implementation issues with service codes, 
particularly the 113 code for specialized residential services, which is expected to roll out in March.  Ms. Becky 
suggested implementing office hours to assist providers around specifically the self-determination program, 
reducing the need for individual meetings. Mr. Hogue addressed concerns from the Provider subcommittee 
regarding funding threats and issues with the provider portal. He also noted that there had been no recent 
meeting for the Equity Provider subcommittee but mentioned plans to meet with Ms. Marcy for updates.  
 
Mr. Blaisch contributed to the discussion by sharing concerns about the significant impact of Medicaid funding 
on the day program providers, revealing that 30% of their budget relies on Medicaid. He emphasized the 
importance of awareness of this issue. Mr. Hogue recommended that the Board of Directors consider writing a 
letter to legislators regarding the importance of preserving Medicaid funding. Mr. Paré agreed that this was a 
valid suggestion, noting that while there was always a possibility of sending such a letter, further discussion was 
needed on how to proceed effectively. The meeting concluded with a call for any additional questions or 
comments.   
 
PUBLIC COMMENT: 
Sheraden Nicholau/SCDDC began by thanking everyone for their participation in the "Share Your Medicaid Story" 
webinars held over the past three weeks. She shared that nearly 900 Californians had been trained in both English 
and Spanish, and that resources such as worksheets and cheat sheets for Medicaid advocacy had been provided. 
She encouraged anyone with a group of 30 or more to reach out for a personalized version of the training.  She 
also mentioned an upcoming event, a Spanish-only session on March 13th, focused on "Protecting Yourself and 
Knowing Your Rights" regarding immigration and customs enforcement, in collaboration with La Familia.  Ms. 
Nicholau highlighted a positive opportunity, the University of California, Los Angeles' Tarjan Center's Leadership 
Academy for emerging disability rights leaders. The virtual program will run from April to June, and participants 
will receive a gift card for completing the program.   
 https://uclahs.az1.qualtrics.com/jfe/form/SV_aXk00q4Nnxv7Gku  
Application Deadline: Friday, February 28, 2025. For More Information, contact Tarjan-
LENDAcademy@mednet.ucla.eduScan   She then discussed the Texas vs. Becerra court case, where 17 states are 
attempting to eliminate Section 504, which protects anti-discrimination and disability rights in various settings, 
including schools and healthcare. Ms. Nicholau promised to share more information on how people can get 
involved in defending Section 504.  Finally, she reminded everyone about upcoming dates, including the next rack 
meeting on Wednesday evening, self-determination orientations, self-advocacy network meetings, and policy 
meetings. She assured that the information would be shared in the chat. 
Chat Messages: More resources for Medicaid advocacy: Please share the following fact sheets and social media 
toolkit with your networks regarding cuts to Medicaid. Family Voices of CA - www.familyvoicesofca.org/medicaid  
• One-pagers/fact sheets • Social media graphics • Sample call script 
Visit dredf.org/protect-504/ and see the PPT and transcripts of the webinar, and handouts. Contact Your State 
Attorney General https://www.naag.org/find-my-ag/  

https://uclahs.az1.qualtrics.com/jfe/form/SV_aXk00q4Nnxv7Gku
mailto:Tarjan-LENDAcademy@mednet.ucla.eduScan
mailto:Tarjan-LENDAcademy@mednet.ucla.eduScan
http://www.familyvoicesofca.org/medicaid
https://www.naag.org/find-my-ag/


 

10 

 

Community Outreach & Regional Advisory Committee (RAC) Meeting Wednesday, February 26, 2025 Networking 
5:15-5:30 PM; Meeting 5:30-8:00 PM This is a hybrid meeting: In-Person with Zoom / Teleconference options. 
Members of the public may participate in-person, telephonically, or by Zoom from any location. Accessible 
formats of all agenda and materials can be found at least 10 days prior to the meeting at: 
www.scdd.ca.gov/bayarea/. Join In-Person: San Mateo City Hall, Council Chambers 330 W. 20th Ave., San Mateo, 
CA 94403 Parking and entrance on O’Farrell Street Or Join by Zoom:   
https://us02web.zoom.us/j/86875213412?pwd=WdihuDypUD1j1353gW2T27QT48v98N.1  Meeting ID: 868 
7521 3412 Passcode: 910830 Or by Telephone, U.S. Toll-free: (877) 853-5257 or (888) 475-4499 
Self-Determination Statewide Orientations (this month and next offered in English, Farsi, and Spanish): 
https://scdd.ca.gov/sdp-orientation/ 
March 6: Statewide Self-Advocacy Network (SSAN) Meeting, 10a – 3p https://scdd.ca.gov/selfadvocacy/  ZOOM 
LINK: https://bit.ly/SSAN-March-2025  March 11: Legislative and Public Policy Committee (LPPC) Meeting 
https://scdd.ca.gov/legislative_and_public_policy/  March 17: Self-Advocates Advisory Committee (SAAC) 
Meeting https://scdd.ca.gov/self_advocates_advisory_committee/  
 
Assata Olugbala, discusses a disparity study conducted by Mason Tillman Associates, which was hired to 
examine potential discrimination and lack of diversity in contracting with Black vendors by the Regional Center 
of the East Bay. The study included data collection, interviews, surveys, and other methods to draw conclusions 
and make recommendations. She highlights concerns about the delay in completing the report, which has 
taken over two years, and compares it to past reports, which were more efficiently processed and presented to 
the public. Ms. Olugbala expresses suspicion that the delay suggests serious findings of discrimination and lack 
of fairness that are being withheld. She criticizes the handling of the report and the apparent effort to keep it 
from being exposed. She also speaks about her experience attending a legislative meeting, describing it as 
disorganized and poorly structured, with issues such as the location and accessibility of services discussed. The 
main concerns included long waiting times for services, difficulty in accessing information about available 
services, inadequate transportation, and the quality and cultural competency of service providers. 
 
Sanasadat Shooshtari, a client of the East Bay Regional Center, expresses gratitude to Lisa for her support, 
particularly in explaining the new Individual Program Plan (IPP) and helping her implement it. She also 
welcomes Miss Becky as the new executive director and looks forward to working with her.  Ms. Shooshtari 
inquires about the application process for joining the board, mentioning that she believes she has filled out an 
application previously but is unsure if it was complete. She requests assistance in completing the application, 
either by providing her responses orally for transcription or another method. She is willing to sign any required 
documentation, just needing help with the transcription process.  
 
Vi Ibarra/CCCDDC, representing the Developmental Disabilities Council in Contra Costa County, announces the 
upcoming Transition Conference and Resource Fair, which will be held at Diablo Valley College on Saturday, 
March 15th. The event is designed for students and adults with disabilities and their families, focusing on 
transitioning to adult services and fostering independence. Ms. Ibarra encourages agencies to share the flyer 
for the event, which is available in both English and Spanish, and invites those on the call to consider attending. 
Ms. Ibarra also provides information about sponsorship opportunities and additional details, which can be 
obtained by contacting either herself or Ben Chen (AC DDC). She mentions that the next Developmental 
Disabilities Council Board meeting will take place on Wednesday, the 26th, with a presentation on family 
training regarding the home and community-based services final rule. She is pleased that April will be attending 
the meeting to help with recruitment for the Regional Center board. 
 
Herb Hastings, Herb Hastings greets everyone and mentions that he has been offline for the past few months 
due to the passing of their mutual friend. He shares an update that Diena plans to return in June, at the end of 
the year term, and sends her regards to the group. 
 
Maureen Fitzgerald,  begins by introducing herself and sharing her observations of various regional center 
board meetings via Zoom across the state in recent years. She praises the board for being one of the more 
engaged boards she has seen, noting that they ask questions and request follow-ups, unlike other boards that 

https://us02web.zoom.us/j/86875213412?pwd=WdihuDypUD1j1353gW2T27QT48v98N.1
https://scdd.ca.gov/sdp-orientation/
https://scdd.ca.gov/selfadvocacy/
https://bit.ly/SSAN-March-2025
https://scdd.ca.gov/legislative_and_public_policy/
https://scdd.ca.gov/self_advocates_advisory_committee/


 

11 

 

primarily receive reports without much questioning. Ms. Fitzgerald then shifts to a legal concern, stating that 
under the Lantern Act and relevant laws, the board cannot meet privately to receive the Mason Tillman report. 
She emphasizes that meetings must be agendized and open to the public, with specific grounds for closed 
sessions. Ms. Fitzgerald advises the board to ensure the report is presented at a public meeting. 
 
ASSOCIATION OF REGIONAL CENTER AGENCIES [ARCA):  Frank Paré, President 
Mr. Paré  concludes there wasn't much to report on the ARCA agenda item, so he skipped it. He then took the 
opportunity to express gratitude to Lisa Kleinbub, acknowledging that this would be her final board meeting as 
the RCEB Executive Director, with her last day being that Friday. Mr. Paré commended Lisa for her vast 
knowledge and dedication throughout her long career, not only as Executive Director but also with the Regional 
Center in general. He expressed admiration for her ability to recall information quickly and praised her work 
ethic despite any challenges along the way. He shared that the board was working on a gesture of appreciation 
for her, recognizing her love for her grandkids and interests like travel.  Mr. Paré also humorously noted that 
while Lisa might be retiring, her deep knowledge would likely keep her involved in some capacity.  
He concluded by wishing her the best and expressing that he’d continue to see her around.  
 
Ms.  Kleinbub responded, expressing her gratitude for the opportunity to serve at RCEB, noting her love for the 
community and commitment to serving the people. Mr. Paré then adjourned the meeting, wishing everyone a 
good evening. 
 

MEETING ADJOURNED 
The board meeting adjourned at 9:04 p.m.   

 
CLOSED SESSION 

Virtual Meetings on March 24, 2025  
The next Diversity and Equity Committee Meeting will be at 5:30 PM  

The next Board Meeting will be at 7:00 PM  

 
 Acronym List 
ARFPSHN  Adult Residential Facility for Persons with Specialized Health Care Needs 
BAHC Bay Area Housing Corporation    HCBS Home and Community Based Services 
CCH Community Crisis Home     ILS  Individual Living Services 
CPP  Community Placement Plan    ILS  Individual Living Services 
CRDP  Community Resource Development Plan   OPS  Operations 
DDS Department of Development Services   PEP  Purchase of Service Expenditure Projection 
EBSH Enhanced Behavioral Support Home   POS  Purchase of Service 
FHA Family Home Agency     SLS  Supported Living Services 



Regional Center of the East Bay 
Contracts for Board Review/Approval 

 
 

   03/14/2025 Date submitted to RCEB Board for review 
 
   03/12/2025 Date approved by RCEB Board Executive Committee (if applicable) 
 
   03/24/2025 Date approved by RCEB Board 

  
March 2024 

 
Operations _____ 

 
Purchase of Service __X__ 

 
 
The following Transportation contracts have been reviewed by Lynn Nguyen, Director, Finance and Administration and Rebecca 
Nanyonjo, Executive Director, both of whom recommend approval by the RCEB Board of Directors. 
 
 
 
 

 
Contractor 

Name 

 
# Daily Trips  

 

 
# of clients 

 
Term of 
Contract 

 
Rate of Reimbursement 

 
Provider is vendored 

for these other 
services  
(if any) 

 
R&D 

Transportation 
Services, Inc 

 
3,000 

 
3,000 

 
July 1, 2025-
June 30, 2028 

 
Ambulatory: $3.54 per trip  
 
Non-Ambulatory: $3.62 per trip 
 
Annual Total: 
Up to $2,685,312.00 
 
Contract Total: 
Up to $8,055,936.00 
 
 
 

 
NA 



1 
 

 
 

CONTRACT SUMMARY SHEET 
 
Name of Agency:      (include whether LLC, non-profit, sole proprietor, etc. and date they 
formed) 
R&D Transportation Services, Inc. (Broker Transportation Services/Service Code 883) a California 

corporation established in 1991.   

 
Summary:  
R&D Transportation Service, Inc. (hereinafter R&D) is a private corporation that was founded in response to 
the growing need for public-private partnerships to develop new and innovative ways to coordinate safe, 
reliable, efficient, and cost-effective transportation solutions. R&D is located at 807-B Camarillo Springs Road 
Camarillo, California, 93012. Additionally, R&D has offices to support the regional needs of customers 
throughout California in Napa, Santa Clara, and Sacramento County. R&D was created to encompass the same 
mission and values expressed in the Americans with Disabilities Act (ADA) and related initiatives and 
regulations. The driving philosophy of R&D staff includes full inclusion of persons with disabilities not only due 
to mandates that support the rights of every individual, but also with consideration that all individuals should 
be fully accepted as equals in every aspect of society.   
 

RCEB posted a Request for Interest for a Transportation Broker provider to coordinate transportation services 

for all RCEB transportation providers vendored for service codes 875, 880, and 895. R&D responded to the 

Request for Interest posted on 2/15/2024.  

 

Contract Overview:  
 

The attached Service Provider Agreements represents Purchase of Service (POS) funding for one 

Transportation Broker serving up to 3,000 adult individuals who are clients of RCEB.    
 

History of Company’s Operation:  
With over 30 years of experience working in partnership with California Regional Centers, R&D is well 
positioned to provide comprehensive broker services. Given our team’s experience and company 
knowledgebase, R&D is uniquely qualified to fulfill the performance standards for Regional Center 
transportation brokerage services identified herein.   
 
Providing Transportation Broker Services to the following regional centers: 

 North Los Angeles County Regional Center (NLACRC) 

 Tri-Counties Regional Center (TCRC) 

 Golden Gate Regional Center (GGRC) 

 North Bay Regional Center (NBRC) 

 Valley Mountain Regional Center (VMRC) 

 San Andres Regional Center (SARC) 

 Alta California Regional Center (ACRC) 
 

Results of the Last QA Review: N/A  
Other RCEB-Funded Corporations Owned by the Same Individuals/Entity: N/A 



1 2659366.2 R&D 2025-2027  

 
 

AGREEMENT FOR TRANSPORTATION BROKER SERVICES 

 

 
between 

 

 
REGIONAL CENTER OF THE EAST BAY, INC. 

and 

R & D TRANSPORTATION SERVICES, INC. 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
TERM OF AGREEMENT: July 1, 2025 – June 30, 2028 



2 2659366.2 R&D 2025-2027  

AGREEMENT FOR TRANSPORTATION BROKER SERVICES 

 

This Agreement For Transportation Broker Services (this “Agreement”), dated for 

reference purposes as of July 1, 2025, is entered into by and between Regional Center of the East 

Bay, Inc., a California nonprofit corporation (“RCEB”) and R & D Transportation Services, Inc., 

a California corporation (“Contractor”) in accordance with the following facts: 

 

A. RCEB has an established need for transportation broker services for its consumers with 

intellectual and developmental disabilities residing in Contra Costa and Alameda 

Counties, which are within RCEB’s catchment area. 

 

B. Contractor represents that it has experience and expertise in the business of providing 

transportation broker services and wishes to provide such services to RCEB. 

 

C. Contractor represents that it has been vendored to provide transportation broker services 

in accordance with the requirements of the California Code of Regulations (17 CCR, 

Division 2) and the California Department of Developmental Services (“DDS”). 

 

D. Contractor agrees to provide safe, efficient and cost effective transportation brokerage 

services to RCEB’s consumers, and RCEB agrees to compensate Contractor for such 

services, pursuant to the terms and conditions of this Agreement. 

 

THEREFORE, based on the facts set forth above, RCEB and Contractor agree as follows: 

 

1. PARTIES TO THE AGREEMENT. The parties to this Agreement are: 
 

1.1 Regional Center of the East Bay, having its principal office at 500 Davis Street, 

Suite 100, San Leandro, CA 94577; and 
 

1.2 R & D Transportation Services, Inc., having its office at 807 Camarillo Springs 

Road, Suite B, Camarillo, CA 93012. 
 

2. AUTHORIZED REPRESENTATIVES; SEPARATION OF OWNERSHIP. 
 

Representatives of the respective parties who are authorized to administer this Agreement, and to 

whom formal notices, demands and communications shall be given, are as follows: 
 

2.1 The representative of RCEB shall be the Director of Community Services, Steve 

Robinson, and in his absence, designated staff persons of RCEB. 
 

2.2 The representative of Contractor shall be Leticia Leon, Vice President, and in his 

absence, designated staff persons of Contractor. 
 

3. CERTAIN DEFINITIONS. 
 

3.1 “17 CCR” refers generally (or specifically as cited) to the California Code of 

Regulations, Title 17, Division 2 (Department of Developmental Services). 



3 2659366.2 R&D 2025-2027  

3.2 “Attendant” or “Aide”, if any, is a person assigned by RCEB to a route or a site 

for the purpose of assisting and monitoring consumers receiving services from a Transportation 

Vendor (defined below). 
 

3.3 “RCEB” includes all officers and employees of RCEB. RCEB shall identify in 

writing all of its designees to Contractor. 
 

3.4 “Contractor” includes all officers and employees of Contractor, plus any agent, 

person, corporation or other entity rendering any services under this Agreement on behalf of 

Contractor. 
 

3.5 “Rate of Payment” means the price(s) charged to RCEB by Contractor, and paid 

to Contractor by RCEB, for each unit of service, as identified in the Payment Agreement 

attached hereto as Exhibit A and incorporated herein by this reference (the “Payment 

Agreement”). 
 

3.6 “Special Incidents” are defined by 17 CCR, Section 54327, and include but are 

not limited to the following events in which consumers are involved: 
 

3.6.1 Any incident involving a serious bodily injury when the consumer is under 

the care and supervision of Transportation Vendor; 
 

3.6.2 Any incident in which a consumer is missing when the consumer is under 

the care and supervision of a Transportation Vendor, and sufficient time has passed (but in any 

event not to exceed twenty-four (24) hours) so that a missing person’s report is required by law 

to be filed concerning the consumer; and 
 

3.6.3 The death of any consumer, regardless of cause or living arrangement. 
 

3.7 “Transportation Vendor” means a transportation service provider who has met 

all the requirements and standards of Title 17, Section 54320 and has been assigned vendor 

identification number(s) and service code(s) by RCEB. 
 

4. TERM OF THE AGREEMENT; PERFORMANCE REVIEWS. The term of this 

Agreement is for  a  period  of  three  years,  starting  July  1,  2025,  and  ending  June  30, 2028, 

unless terminated prior to that time by either party in accordance with the provisions of this Agreement. 
 

4.1 For purposes of this Agreement, any and all references herein to “the term of this 

Agreement” shall include any renewals and/or extensions hereof unless specifically provided to 

the contrary. However, Contractor understands that no right to renew this Agreement is 

expressed or implied. At the end of the original term of this Agreement, RCEB may choose to 

offer to renew, or not to renew, this Agreement in RCEB's sole and arbitrary discretion. 
 

4.2 Before taking effect, the Agreement shall be signed by the authorized 

representatives of both contracting parties identified in Section 2 of this Agreement. 



4 2659366.2 R&D 2025-2027  

4.3 If Contractor provides services to RCEB beyond the expiration date of this 

Agreement, and RCEB accepts such services, then unless the parties agree differently in writing, 

this Agreement shall become a month-to-month contract, terminable by either party (i) without 

cause on ninety (90) days' written notice or (ii) in accordance with Section 13 below. 
 

5. SCOPE OF WORK. 
 

5.1 Contractor shall, at the times and locations specified by RCEB, furnish labor, 

equipment, software, technology and other resources and supplies as required, to provide safe, 

reliable and efficient transportation broker services to RCEB for its consumers who reside in 

RCEB’s service area and who are authorized by RCEB to receive specific types of transportation 

services from a Transportation Vendor or other generic resources. 
 

5.2 In accordance with 17 CCR, Section 50608 (Contract Duties and 

Responsibilities), Contractor agrees that the level of services provided pursuant to this 

Agreement shall, at a minimum, be consistent with the provisions of (1) this Agreement, (2) any 

other program design required by RCEB and (3) Contractor’s Program Design attached hereto as 

Exhibit B (the “Program Design”). RCEB and DDS have relied on such documents in 

establishing the Rate of Payment in the Payment Agreement. The Program Design is a part of 

this Agreement; Contractor shall at all times comply with the provisions in the Program Design 

and the Program Design shall comply with the provisions of 17 CCR, Section 50608(a)(2). If any 

conflict exists between the terms of this Agreement and the scope of Contractor’s services and 

obligations set forth in the Program Design/Service Agreement, the provisions that most broadly 

protect the Regional Center’s consumers shall control. 
 

6. TRANSPORTATION SYSTEM BROKER SERVICES. Contractor shall provide the 

following broker services to RCEB: 
 

6.1 Transportation Planning, Route Design and Scheduling: 
 

6.1.1 Contractor shall, utilizing proprietary software, plan and prepare routes 

and schedules and cost estimates for the provision of services by specified Transportation 

Vendors as requested by RCEB. Contractor shall provide documentation of the actual fee and 

proof of payment in a manner determined by and acceptable to RCEB. 
 

6.1.2 If this Agreement terminates for any reason, and if so requested by RCEB, 

Contractor shall cause the owner (the "Licensor") of any third party transportation software (the 

"Software") used by Contractor to transfer the license in the Software to RCEB. In such event, 

Contractor acknowledges that (i) the Licensor's license will continue in full force and effect as an 

agreement between RCEB and Licensor (but RCEB will have no liability for any acts, omissions 

or defaults by Contractor), (ii) RCEB will become the “Licensee” under the Licensor's license, 

with no additional license transfer fees charged by Licensor and (iii) thereafter RCEB shall pay 

for the right to continue use of the license for a time period chosen by RCEB. 
 

6.1.3 Contractor shall provide transportation system planning and analysis to 

ensure that the transportation system in RCEB's catchment area shall have sufficient buses and 

capacity, at all times, to serve all referred RCEB consumers during the term of this Agreement. 

Contractor shall ensure that all consumer referrals can be served within five (5) business days of 



5 2659366.2 R&D 2025-2027  

referral and that a waiting list does not develop in the transportation system. If Contractor cannot 

comply with such five (5) business day deadline due to events outside of its reasonable control, 

then Contractor shall so notify RCEB in writing within such five (5) business day period of the 

cause for the delay and the expected date that the consumers who have been referred by RCEB 

will be served by the applicable Transportation Vendor; provided, however, all such consumer 

referrals must be served by Transportation Vendors within five (5) calendar days after the 

expiration of the original five (5) business day period, subject to delays beyond Contractor’s 

reasonable control. 
 

6.1.4 All transportation plans, routes and schedules are subject to the approval 

of, or revision by, RCEB. Routes submitted to RCEB shall be well planned, taking into 

consideration the individual consumer needs as well as the needs of other consumers on same 

route as well as the efficiency of the system as a whole. Routes should be accurate and correct 

90% of the time at a minimum. 
 

6.1.5 All final routes become the property of RCEB. 
 

6.1.6 In the development of routes and schedules, Contractor shall take into 

consideration health, safety, efficiency, generic resource options and other individual needs of 

RCEB consumers. 
 

6.1.7 Contractor and RCEB will together establish a cost analysis threshold (the 

“Threshold Cost”) based upon the average cost per consumer charged by Transportation 

Vendors for transportation services in RCEB's catchment area. The Threshold Cost will be re- 

evaluated by the parties on a quarterly basis, and Contractor shall adjust the Threshold Costs if 

appropriate and if approved by RCEB’s Chief Financial Officer or their designee. Any 

transportation service request by a Transportation Vendor that does not increase transportation 

costs by more than the Threshold Cost will be immediately processed by Contractor. Any service 

request that exceeds the Threshold Cost will require a signed authorization by the authorized 

RCEB representative before Contractor shall be allowed to process such service request. In such 

cases, Contractor shall submit the cost analysis to RCEB (showing the amount by which such 

cost exceeds the Threshold Cost) within 3 working days after Contractor receives such service 

request. If Contractor cannot comply with such 3-day deadline due to events outside of its 

reasonable control, then Contractor shall so notify RCEB in writing within such 3-day period of 

the cause for the delay and the expected date that Contractor will provide its cost analysis to 

RCEB. 
 

6.1.8 Routing and scheduling shall be aimed at providing the optimum mix of 

efficient, effective and quality service, as determined by RCEB. In the absence of other 

objectives articulated by RCEB, Contractor shall strive to reduce total vehicle service hours and 

individual and average consumer ride times to the minimum necessary for safe and effective 

transportation. Routes and schedules shall be provided to RCEB's identified Transportation 

Vendors as requested by RCEB. Contractor shall ensure that all consumers’ one-way ride times 

do not exceed ninety (90) minutes. Contractor shall promptly notify RCEB’s Director of 

Community Services or their designee in writing when consumers’ one-way ride times exceed 

ninety (90) minutes. On a quarterly basis as provided in Paragraph 6.2.5 below, Contractor shall 

provide RCEB with a set of monthly reports for the prior three months listing all consumers 



6 2659366.2 R&D 2025-2027  

whose one-way ride times exceeded ninety (90) minutes, along with recommendations to reduce 

future ride times below ninety (90) minutes. 
 

6.2 Service Monitoring and Vendor Contract Monitoring: 
 

6.2.1 As the designee of RCEB, Contractor shall coordinate and monitor the 

daily operation of specified Transportation Vendors and provide troubleshooting and 

consultation to vendors to assure compliance with contract and vendor requirements including 

performance, incident reporting, safety awareness and driver/Attendant responsibilities. 

Training shall include, but not limited to, mandated reporting, Special Incident reporting 

processes  as  well  as  reporting  of   non-reportable   incidents,   RCEB   values   and 

processes, understanding developmental disabilities, understanding characteristics of 

developmental disabilities, safety issues, strategies for dealing with consumers  with  

challenging behaviors (including, but not limited to, de-escalating  potentially  volatile 

situations  and  intervention  techniques),  and  RCEB’s  role  and  responsibilities.   

Contractor’s curriculum shall be approved by RCEB in advance of any training session and 

amount of training shall be determined by RCEB. 
 

6.2.2 Contractor shall work with RCEB to develop and maintain a quarterly 

contract compliance checklist for each of the Transportation Vendors under Contractor’s 

responsibility. Contractor shall assure that the quarterly contract compliance checklist will be 

completed each quarter by each respective Transportation Vendor as a Self-Survey. Quarterly 

reports will specify any areas not in compliance and Transportation Vendor’s plan to correct 

deficiencies including timelines. Contractor shall sample a predetermined amount of each line 

item of the Self-Survey (as determined by RCEB), and will verify that the Transportation 

Vendor has complied with any Corrective Action Plan. 
 

6.2.3 Contractor shall conduct semi-annual quality assurance reviews/audits for 

each Transportation Vendor. Contractor shall complete a quality assurance/audit review for at 

least 25% of the vehicles that are scheduled at the site they are reviewing, example: 24 buses are 

scheduled for a site, Contractor shall be responsible for documenting their observation of six of 

those buses. Contractor to develop a quality assurance/audit report, approved by RCEB, for 

each semi-annual visit. 
 

6.2.4 Contractor  shall  coordinate   separate   meetings   with   

Transportation Vendors as a group, or  individually,  as  requested  by  RCEB,  to  review  

issues and manage  contract  compliance.  RCEB’s Community Services Director or designee 

will work with Contractor to develop a standard agenda for such meetings.  Contractor staff 

shall document meeting outcomes with a plan to resolve outstanding issues. Contractor shall 

forward a copy of the report and the plan to correct identified issues/ problems to the RCEB 

Community Services Director or designee, within two weeks following the meeting. 
 

6.2.5 Each quarter, Contractor will submit a monthly routing summary report to 
RCEB. This monthly report shall provide detailed route information including, but not limited 

to: a) Total route changes performed during the month. 



7 2659366.2 R&D 2025-2027  

b) Detailed information and explanation for those consumers who 

exceed a total ride time of ninety (90) minutes and a plan to reduce ride time to ninety (90) 

minutes or less. 
 

 
to cost and or time. 

c) List of RCEB-approved routes that are above average with respect 

 

d) Detailed information and explanation concerning all consumers 

whose daily cost exceeds the average cost, or other information as mutually agreed upon by both 

parties. A master list may be used for those consumers for whom RCEB has approved a rate 

above the average cost. 
 

6.2.6 As the designee of RCEB, Contractor shall review Transportation Vendor 

billings and conduct or participate in billing audits as requested by RCEB. 
 

6.2.7 Contractor shall generate and monitor a monthly absence list to determine 

which consumers need to be reviewed by RCEB and which consumers may need to have their 

space held or released. A copy of this report shall also include the average individual cost per 

day. Contractor shall submit a copy of the report to RCEB’s Community Services Director each 

month. 
 

6.2.8 Contractor shall monitor the on-time performance of the contracted 

Transportation Vendors and provide an analysis of the issues affecting performance and develop 

an action plan to improve the on-time performance by each Transportation Vendor as needed. 

Contractor will prepare a quarterly “on-time performance report” by catchment area. The report 

format will be designed by Contractor and approved by RCEB, including, but not limited to: 

vehicle maintenance issues; chronic system issues and an action plan to improve on-time 

performance. Contractor will submit this report quarterly to the RCEB Community Services 

Director and RCEB Senior Management staff. RCEB and Contractor to hold quarterly meetings 

to review Contractor’s and Transportation Vendors’ performances. 
 

6.3 Liaison with Consumers, Families, Programs and RCEB Staff: Contractor shall 

provide daily customer and liaison services for RCEB with RCEB's Transportation Vendors, 

consumers, families and program staff in the provision of transportation broker services as 

necessary for the safe, timely and efficient provision of services and the resolution of problems. 

Contractor customer service representatives shall be knowledgeable and available by phone 

during business hours, commensurate with demand, and shall respond to in-coming calls in a 

timely manner. Contractor shall provide to RCEB a monthly report on Contractor’s telephone 

system performance, including but not limited to hold times. On a quarterly basis, Contractor and 

RCEB shall review such telephone performance. Upon RCEB’s request, Contractor shall 

develop a corrective action plan to improve the timeliness of Contractor’s telephone system 

performance. 
 

6.4 General Transportation Planning and Assistance: Contractor shall assist RCEB in 

planning for the future transportation needs of its consumers, and in accommodating growth and 

changes in eligibility, program hours, program location, consumer address or other variables 

affecting the provision of transportation services. Contractor shall also advise RCEB regarding 



8 2659366.2 R&D 2025-2027  

policies and issues related to the provision of transportation services. Contractor shall provide 

RCEB with a written Twelve (12) Month  Rolling  Plan  (the  “PLAN”)  that  projects  the  

timely addition of new buses for RCEB's  catchment  areas.  The PLAN shall be revised yearly 

and delivered to RCEB’s Chief Financial Officer and Community Services Director on a 

quarterly basis. This plan shall be proactive and identify projected new programs, projected 

program expansion, consumer growth, and other changes impacting the transportation system in 

RCEB's catchment areas. Contractor shall work with RCEB in identifying monthly changes and 

shall utilize its expertise to incorporate current bus capacity, routes, ride times exceeding ninety 

(90) minutes, equipment type and other critical elements to develop the PLAN for adding buses 

in a timely and cost effective manner. The PLAN shall allow for reasonable time for new bus 

delivery.  The  PLAN  shall  identify  the  number  of  new buses by catchment area, the date for  

vehicles  to  be  placed  in  service  and  the  order date required by each Transportation Vendor. 

RCEB acknowledges that Contractor will require time to collect information from RCEB, and to 

assess existing Transportation Vendor capacity in order to generate a plan to align with the 

organizational objectives of RCEB. 
 

6.4.1 Contractor shall submit written requests to add new buses during the fiscal 

year to the RCEB Executive Director or designee. The requests shall include detailed 

information to justify the request. 
 

6.5 Structured Oversight of RCEB’s Transportation Vendors’ Billings: During the 

term of this Agreement, Contractor shall oversee RCEB’s Transportation Vendors’ billings under 

Service Code 875 (transportation company), Service Code 880 (transportation additional 

component), Service Code 882 (transportation assistant) and Service Code 895 (public 

transportation). In particular, Contractor shall: 
 

6.5.1 Review Invoices for Accuracy. Review all Transportation Vendor invoices 

on a monthly basis to verify the accuracy of the units of services billed prior to payment, 

including the following: 
 

a) Compare units of services billed by Transportation Vendors with 

scheduled routes; 
 

b) Perform monthly reconciliations of scheduled units of service with 

actual units of service invoiced by Transportation Vendors. 
 

c) Maintain records by route, detailing scheduled units of service and 

actual units of service provided; 
 

d) Reconcile any billing differences between actual units of service 

billed and authorized units of service, coordinate with Transportation Vendors to resolve 

discrepancies observed, and communicate any billing adjustments to RCEB. 
 

6.5.2 Monitor Scheduling Changes. Identify potential scheduling changes based 

on Contractor’s review of invoices, and communicate these changes to the Transportation 

Vendor, consumer and their family, and RCEB’s staff; 



9 2659366.2 R&D 2025-2027  

6.5.3 Monthly Expenditure Tracking Reports. Prepare monthly expenditure 

tracking reports, in a format approved by RCEB, including but not limited to: 
 

a) Total consumers served; 
 

b) Total service days during the month; 
 

c) Total units of services provided during the month; 
 

d) Billable services to RCEB and billable services to other regional 

centers; 
 

e) Total actual expenditures compared to scheduled costs for the 

month for all of RCEB’s transportation services; and 
 

f) Total actual expenditures compared to scheduled costs for the 

month by Transportation Vendor. 
 

6.5.4 Documentation Maintenance. Maintain all documentation substantiating 

all scheduled route hours, actual route hours, and billing adjustments for a minimum of 5 years 

from the date such events occur, per Title 17 Section 50605; 
 

6.5.5 Written Procedures. Establish detailed written procedures for all 

processes; and 
 

6.5.6 Internal Controls. Establish and maintain a clear system of internal 

controls and record keeping, established in accordance with generally accepted accounting 

practices and in compliance with all relevant Federal, State, and local statutes, regulations, and 

guidelines. 
 

7. ADMINISTRATION AND REPORTING. Contractor shall administer services in 

accordance with the provisions of this Agreement, maintain records and provide RCEB with 

reports of service, performance, incidents, ridership and satisfaction. Records and reports shall 

include, but not be limited to the following: 
 

7.1 Accounting and Service Reporting: 
 

7.1.1 Internal Controls. Contractor shall establish and maintain a clear system of 

internal control, established in accordance with generally accepted accounting practices and in 

compliance with the provisions of Title 17, Chapter 1, Subchapter 6, “Service Provider 

Accountability” as well as all relevant Federal, State, and local statutes and guidelines. 
 

7.1.2 Information to be Included with Invoices. Based on the rates on Exhibit A 

(or any subsequently modified rates of payment), Contractor shall prepare and submit a monthly 

invoice and supporting documentation as required by this Agreement, in a format approved by 

RCEB, which shall include: 



10 2659366.2 R&D 2025-2027  

a) total number consumers served, identified by vendor and 

sponsoring regional center or funding source as identified to Contractor by RCEB; 
 

b) total services days for the month; 
 

c) total units of service by Contractor and total dollars billable by 

Contractor for the month; 
 

d) total units of service by vendor number and service codes 

authorized by Contractor to be billed by other Transportation Vendors; 
 

7.1.3 Contractor shall prepare, maintain and submit consumer database, route 

and schedule information as identified below in formats approved by RCEB which shall include: 
 

a) Updated consumer lists including current rate information, shall be 

submitted at least monthly or more frequently as indicated based on service needs and 

characteristics; 
 

b) By the fifth (5th) working day of each month, Contractor will 

submit a current master list of all routes to RCEB. Route sheet information shall include: 
 

i. route identification indicating am or pm route and destinations; 
 

ii. consumer names; 
 

iii. sequential addresses for pick-up and/or drop off; 
 

iv. scheduled start time of route upon leaving yard, time for each 

consumer pick-up and/or drop off, and end time for route upon 

return to yard; 
 

v. requirement for Attendant; 
 

vi. other consumer specific information including information on 

consumer release. 
 

7.1.4 Contractor shall maintain and make available to RCEB upon request 

system performance information including but not limited to: 
 

a) on time performance of specific Transportation Vendors; 
 

b) growth/change/cost analysis; 

 

c) consumer emergency information including but not limited to: names 

and phone numbers of personal contacts and known allergic reactions. 

RCEB will collect and provide this information to Contractor. 

Contractor will input this information into its database upon receipt of 

information of RCEB. 



11 2659366.2 R&D 2025-2027  

 

7.2 Incident and Special Incident Reporting: Contractor shall ensure that all 

consumer-related Special Incidents which come to the attention of Contractor directly or via 

report and/or any other accidents or incidents which are, or may be, in the judgment of 

Contractor, detrimental to consumer health or safety, will be reported or forwarded to RCEB in 

accordance with Title 17, Section 54327 (Requirements for Special Incident Reporting by 

Vendors), and as follows: 
 

7.2.1 All Special Incidents shall initially be reported to RCEB verbally or in 

writing as soon as possible, and in no case later than the end of the same day that the incident 

occurs and Contractor receives notification of same. Reports after RCEB's business hours may be 

made via RCEB's SIR reporting software (Therap), voice mail, or fax. Contractor shall contact 

RCEB’s on-duty worker for assistance in the event of a serious incident which is brought to 

Contractor’s attention after business hours and which may require immediate attention to protect 

the health and safety of consumers. 
 

7.2.2 Contractor shall ensure that those members of their staff who will have 

contact with consumers or Transportation Vendors receive Special Incident and mandated 

reporter training. Additionally, Contractor shall monitor drivers, Aides and dispatchers of the 

Transportation Vendors, receive Special Incident reporting and mandated reporter training prior 

to working with RCEB’s consumers. 
 

7.2.3 A complete written report on all incidents shall be provided and/or 

forwarded by Contractor within 48 hours. Basic information regarding an incident shall include 

the identification of consumer(s) and/or other parties involved, any consequences to consumers 

and others, any initial action taken by Contractor's personnel during or in response to the 

incident. Contractor may participate with the transportation coordinator in the follow-up of 

incidents as requested by RCEB. 
 

7.2.4 Contractor shall assist RCEB to gather information to support the 

resolution of incidents, and to coordinate with Transportation Vendors to document preventative 

actions as may be requested by RCEB. 
 

7.3 Other Record-Keeping and Consumer Monitoring. 
 

7.3.1 If in Contractor’s opinion the health and/or safety of a consumer, or 

others, may be jeopardized, Contractor shall verbally communicate such concerns to RCEB as 

soon as possible, and in writing within one (1) working day of the event. 
 

7.3.2 In accordance with 17 CCR, Section 58521 (Consumer Information), 

Contractor shall assure that all of its personnel maintain, and keep confidential, all consumer 

information received from RCEB, and utilize such information only as necessary to provide safe 

and effective Transportation Services. 
 

7.4 Vendor Disclosure Statement. Upon the execution of this Agreement, and at all 

other times upon RCEB’s request, Contractor shall complete, sign and deliver to RCEB a Vendor 

Disclosure Statement (DDS Form DS 1891). Contractor shall also submit an updated signed and 



12 2659366.2 R&D 2025-2027  

dated DS 1891 Form to RCEB within thirty (30) days of any change in the information 

previously submitted pursuant to this Section. 
 

7.5 Contractor Reviews and Audits 
 

7.5.1 This Section 7.5 applies because all payments Contractor cumulatively 

receives from RCEB and other regional centers during each state fiscal year exceeds Five 

Hundred Thousand Dollars ($500,000). 
 

7.5.2 Contractor shall, at RCEB’s request and at Contractor’s cost, cause an 

independent Certified Public Accountant to annually (1) provide either an independent review 

report of Contractor’s financial statements for Contractor’s fiscal year that includes the last day 

of the most recent state fiscal year when the amount received from the regional centers during 

each state fiscal year is more than or equal to Five Hundred Thousand Dollars ($500,000), but 

less than Two Million Dollars ($2,000,000), or provide an independent audit if the amount 

received from regional centers during each state fiscal year is equal to or more than Two Million 

Dollars ($2,000,000); and (2) provide a copy of either the review results (the “Review Report”) 

or the annual audit results (the “Audit Report”) to RCEB. 
 

7.5.3 If Contractor engages an independent Certified Public Accountant to 

review (but not audit) Contractor’s financial statements, (i) the review shall, at minimum, 

comply with the provisions set forth in WIC, Section 4652.5(e) and (ii) the Review Report shall, 

at minimum, comply with the provisions set forth in WIC, Section 4652.5(f). 
 

7.5.4 Contractor shall complete the audit or review within nine (9) months after 

the end of Contractor’s fiscal year, and submit to RCEB pursuant to WIC, Section 4652.5(b). 
 

7.5.5 In accordance with WIC, Section 4652.5(b), Contractor shall provide 

copies of the independent Audit Report or Review Report to RCEB within 30 days after 

completion of the audit or review. 
 

7.5.6 If RCEB believes that any issues identified in the Audit Report or Review 

Report have an impact on services Contractor provides to RCEB’s Consumers, RCEB will so 

notify Contractor and provide Contractor with 30 days to resolve such issues. Contractor’s 

failure to resolve such issues to RCEB’s reasonable satisfaction within such 30-day period shall 

constitute a material breach of this Agreement. As a result of such uncured breach, RCEB may, 

among its other remedies, terminate this Agreement. 
 

7.5.7 If RCEB does not find any issues in Contractor’s prior year Audit Report 

or Review Report, Contractor may apply, in writing, to RCEB for a two-year exemption from the 

independent Audit Report or Review Report. 
 

7.6 Administrative Cost Cap. If the Contractor’s compensation under the attached 

Payment Agreement is based on a negotiated rate (rather than a DDS-established rate of 

payment), Contractor agrees that it will not spend more than 15% of the funds it receives from 

RCEB under this Agreement on Contractor’s administrative costs. For purposes of this 

paragraph, Contractor’s administrative costs shall include all of the items listed under California 

Welfare and Institutions Code (“WIC”) §4629.7(a)(1) through (15), as such provisions may be 



13 2659366.2 R&D 2025-2027  

amended from time to time. Conversely, those costs Contractor incurs that are immediately 

associated with the services Contractor offers to RCEB’s consumers are considered direct service 

expenditures, and are not administrative costs. To insure Contractor complies with these 

requirements, Contractor shall, to the extent permitted under applicable law, provide RCEB with 

access to all books, documents, papers, computerized data, source documents, consumer records, 

and other records pertaining to Contractor’s negotiated rates, upon RCEB’s reasonable prior 

written request. 
 

8. OPERATIONS. 
 

8.1 Facilities Equipment: Contractor shall maintain adequate planning, operations and 

administrative facilities and equipment necessary to provide efficient and cost effective 

transportation broker services and to fulfill all reporting requirements pursuant to this 

Agreement. 
 

8.2 Administrative, Supervisory and Operational Personnel: 
 

8.2.1 Contractor shall maintain personnel as required for effective management, 

supervision and operation of the transportation broker services provided to RCEB under this 

Agreement. This shall include the availability of personnel to receive and place telephone calls, 

to perform liaison services, to monitor transportation services during the hours consumers are 

being transported, and to respond to emergencies as they occur. (See Program Design, 

Organizational Chart). 
 

8.2.2 Contractor shall at all times, at a minimum, have personnel who are 

bilingual in English and Spanish to respond to calls from consumers and families. 
 

8.2.3 In addition to such other management and supervisory personnel as may 

be required to perform services hereunder, Contractor shall assure that during all operating 

hours one designated staff person shall be available for the purpose of monitoring services and 

with the authority to act on behalf of Contractor. 
 

9. SERVICE DESIGN AND QUALITY REQUIREMENTS. In the performance of 

service under this Agreement, Contractor shall conform to the following parameters of service 

design and quality and in the Program Design: 
 

9.1 Days and Hours of Operation. During the term of this Agreement, service shall be 

provided five (5) days per week, Monday through Friday, except for those days designated by 

RCEB as holidays. Hours shall be 8:00 am to 5:00 pm or as required for personnel to be on duty 

from the first consumer pick-up to the last consumer delivery. After hours there shall, at a 

minimum, be a system for recorded information and messages. 
 

9.2 Service Authorization: Services for individual consumers will be authorized by 

RCEB's Case Management Department or other individual(s) so designated by RCEB. 
 

9.3 Service Termination: Contractor shall not refuse service, or terminate, or 

otherwise indefinitely suspend transportation service for any consumer without consultation with 

and prior approval of RCEB. 



14 2659366.2 R&D 2025-2027  

9.4 New Service Notification: The consumer or family/care provider(s) of each new 

rider on vendored transportation shall be notified by Contractor, a minimum of two (2) days prior 

to the day on which new transportation service is to begin concerning the start date and pickup 

and drop-off times. In addition, all passengers on any route whose times are changed in the 

scheduling process by more than ten (10) minutes shall also be notified of such new pickup and 

drop-off times a minimum of two (2) days prior to the day on which such revised service is 

scheduled to begin. The program site to be attended by a new consumer shall also be contacted 

by Contractor to confirm the first day of service prior to that day of service. 
 

9.5 Late Vehicle Notification: Families/care providers and program staff shall be 

notified by Contractor when vehicles of specified Transportation Vendors will be arriving more 

than fifteen (15) minutes behind schedule. Contractor will re-contact the affected families/care 

providers and/or programs to advise of additional delays or revised arrival projections and 

generally make best effort to keep parties advised according to the situation. 
 

9.6 Customer Service Complaint Resolution: Contractor shall respond to routine 

complaints within the same day in which the complaint is received. Within 3 working days, 

Contractor will investigate and if possible, resolve any complaints regarding transportation 

services under this Agreement. 
 

9.7 Grievance Procedure: At the beginning of the term, Contractor shall provide to 

RCEB, as part of Contractor’s Program Design, a copy of Contractor’s written internal procedure 

to resolve consumer grievances in accordance with the provisions of 17 CCR, Section 50608(e) 

(Contract Duties and Responsibilities). Contractor shall also provide to RCEB all revisions to 

such grievance procedure as they are implemented. The procedure shall be provided to 

consumers, families and programs upon request. 
 

9.8 Consumer Release: For purposes of this Agreement, all consumers are to be 

considered to require release only to the custody of a responsible adult unless otherwise specified 

in writing by RCEB or family and transmitted to Contractor. 
 

9.8.1 If a Transportation Vendor reports that a consumer requiring release into 

the custody of a responsible adult cannot be appropriately released, Contractor shall monitor and 

attempt to resolve the situation until resolved or until appropriate RCEB personnel can be 

contacted. If after the completion of the entire route on which the monitored consumer is riding, 

an appropriate adult is still not available, Contractor shall contact RCEB to address the 

individual consumer's situation and to identify a location or other appropriate action concerning 

safe delivery of the consumer. After RCEB's working hours, RCEB's on-call personnel shall be 

contacted utilizing RCEB's emergency answering service procedure. 
 

10. ROUTE PLANNING AND SCHEDULING REQUIREMENTS. In the planning, 

scheduling and issuing of routes for designated Transportation Vendors, Contractor shall 

conform to the following parameters: 
 

10.1 Ride Time: Scheduled consumer ride/travel time shall be no greater than ninety 

(90) minutes, one way, unless specific approval for such is given by RCEB. 



15 2659366.2 R&D 2025-2027  

10.2 Arrival Time: Scheduled program delivery/arrival time shall be the program start 

time or no more than fifteen (15) minutes prior to the scheduled program start time; scheduled 

program pick-up/departure time shall be the program end time or no more than fifteen (15) 

minutes after the scheduled program end time, unless specific approval to do otherwise is given 

by RCEB. The designated program start and end times shall be identified by RCEB. 
 

10.3 Route Changes:  Contractor shall create or make changes to routes as requested  

by and confirmed by RCEB and provide such information to designated Transportation Vendor 

so that transportation services are delivered as follows: 
 

10.3.1 Suspend or delete service for a consumer the next working day following 

notification from RCEB. 
 

10.3.2 Add a new consumer to a route, or implement a consumer change of 

address, change of program or change of schedule within five (5) working days following 

notification by and confirmation from RCEB, unless otherwise agreed upon with RCEB. Any 

changes to transportation will be processed by Contractor and implemented with consideration to 

the operational capacity maintained by Transportation Vendors contracted by RCEB. 
 

10.3.3 Increased or decreased service resulting from program, service and/or 

consumer population growth and changes shall be deemed an ordinary part of this Agreement. 

For major service design changes such as new program additions or site relocations, schedules 

and vehicle deployment levels shall be implemented by Contractor in accordance with timelines 

agreed upon by the parties in accordance with the situation. 
 

11. COMPENSATION AND FISCAL PROVISIONS. 
 

11.1 Compensation. 
 

11.1.1 In consideration for Contractor’s provision of services described in this 

Agreement, RCEB agrees to pay Contractor in accordance with the rates identified on the 

attached Payment Agreement. Notwithstanding the foregoing, Contractor’s right to payment is 

subject to any required review and approval of this Agreement by (i) DDS in accordance with 17 

CCR, if applicable and (ii) RCEB’s Board of Directors under WIC, Section 4625.5. 
 

11.1.2 In accordance with Title 17, Section 50609(f), the maximum total amount 

payable by RCEB to Contractor under the full term of this Agreement shall not exceed the 

amounts identified in the Payment Agreement. 
 

11.1.3 RCEB’s payment to Contractor shall be only for authorized services 

rendered pursuant to this Agreement. 
 

11.1.4 The cost of Contractor’s total monthly billing shall be allocated by RCEB, 

based on proportionate actual cost or formula distribution, among RCEB, other sponsoring 

regional centers and/or other funding sources, based on the number of authorized consumers 

transported for each center or funding source. 



16 2659366.2 R&D 2025-2027  

11.1.5 Payments to Contractor shall be calculated and payable by RCEB monthly 

in arrears, contingent upon RCEB’s receipt of a properly documented invoice with service 

information as required by the provisions of this Agreement. 
 

11.1.6 For each properly documented invoice received by RCEB by the fifth day 

of the month following Contractor’s month of service, RCEB shall issue payment within 20 

working days. Properly documented invoices received by RCEB after the fifth day of the month 

may be subject to payment by RCEB more than 20 working days thereafter. 
 

11.1.7 In accordance with 17 CCR, Section 54326(a)(12), (General Requirements 

for Vendors and Regional Centers), the money paid by RCEB (or other regional centers) to 

Contractor for providing its services to authorized consumers shall be the total compensation to 

which Contractor shall be entitled for performance of this Agreement and its requirements. 

Contractor shall make no additional charges or billings beyond this Agreement to regional center 

consumers or families, without prior review and approval of RCEB. This provision shall not be 

construed to apply to the pro-rating of the billing or charging of private fees for other riders who 

are not funded by regional centers. 
 

11.1.8 In accordance with 17 CCR, Section 50609(d) (Contract Fiscal 

Provisions), consideration paid by RCEB to Contractor, as provided herein, shall be the total 

compensation for performance of the contract and its requirements, unless otherwise expressly 

provided. 
 

11.1.9 If RCEB questions any portion of a billing by Contractor as to proper 

documentation or authorization, then RCEB reserves the right either to issue a partial payment 

(thereby holding the amount in question, pending resolution), to issue payment and subsequently 

adjust a future payment pending resolution, or to do both. RCEB shall not, however withhold 

total payment of any properly documented invoice if only a portion of the amount is in question. 

RCEB shall identify to Contractor any disputed item and/or reasons for a withheld payment 

along with the issuance of the undisputed payment. 
 

11.2 Legislative Payment Reduction. Notwithstanding anything in this Agreement to 

the contrary, all of the Rates of Payment described in the Payment Agreement are subject to 

payment reductions that may in the future be implemented by the California State Legislature, as 

such reductions may be further increased or reduced, and will remain in effect until withdrawn 

by the State of California. If a payment reduction is implemented, Contractor may elect to 

terminate this Agreement with 60 days’ notice to RCEB. 
 

11.3 Electronic Billing. Contractor shall use electronic billing under DDS’s Regional 

Center e-Billing System Web application for all of Contractor’s invoices to RCEB under this 

Agreement, as set forth in WIC Section 4641.5(a)(1) through (2). 
 

12. MONITORING, INSPECTIONS AND AUDIT PROVISIONS. 
 

12.1 For purposes of audit and inspection in accordance with this Agreement, RCEB 

and Contractor specifically agree to utilize and be bound by 17 CCR, Subchapter 6, (Service 

Provider Accountability) in accordance with the following Sections (as they may be amended 

from time to time): 



17 2659366.2 R&D 2025-2027  

 50602. Definitions; 

 50603. Access to Service Provider Records; 

 50604. Service Provider Record Maintenance Requirements; 

 50605. Service Provider Record Retention Requirements; and 

 50606. Regional Center Auditing Requirements. 

 50610 Contract Fiscal Audits 

 

12.2 Contractor shall maintain all records pertaining to the provision of services to 

consumers in accordance with this Agreement and with 17 CCR, Section 50605, for a minimum 

period of five (5) years after the later of (i) the date of Contractor’s receipt of final payment from 

RCEB for the applicable State fiscal year or (ii) the resolution of any audit pertaining to 

Contractor’s services under this Agreement. 
 

12.3 During the term of this Agreement, such records shall be maintained at the 

following place of business of Contractor: 807 Camarillo Springs Road, Suite B, Camarillo, 

CA 93012. Such records shall not be removed from such place of business of Contractor without 

Contractor’s prior written notification to RCEB, and RCEB’s reasonable approval of the new 

location. 
 

12.4 Contractor agrees to utilize and be bound by 17 CCR, Subchapter 7, (Fiscal Audit 

Appeals), Sections 50700 through 50767, and WIC, Section 4648.2, should Contractor elect to 

appeal any of RCEB’s or DDS’s audit findings and/or recommendations. 
 

12.5 Contractor agrees to accept financial liability for any audit findings and/or 

recommendations disclosed by audit and agrees to promptly repay amounts owed within 30 days 

of request, unless appealed and repayment is stayed pursuant to 17 CCR, Section 50705 

(Recovery of Overpayments). 
 

12.6 Contractor shall include the requirement to store records and RCEB’s right to 

audit, monitor and or inspect same under the terms of this Agreement in any service agreements 

to perform work under this Agreement. 
 

13. TERMINATION. 
 

13.1 This Agreement may be terminated by RCEB in accordance with the procedures 

below, without prejudice to any other rights or remedy, if RCEB determines that any of the 

following grounds for termination exist: 
 

13.1.1 Contractor has not complied with any provisions of this Agreement or the 

terms of any purchase of service authorization; or 
 

13.1.2 Contractor has not complied with any of the vendorization requirements in 

17 CCR, Section 54370(b)(1) through (9). For purposes of this Paragraph, Contractor’s failure to 

maintain the insurance required by this Agreement constitutes Contractor’s failure to comply 

with vendorization requirements under 17 CCR, Section 54370(b)(1) and (b)(4); or 



18 2659366.2 R&D 2025-2027  

13.1.3 Contractor has not complied with (1) applicable Federal or State 

regulations, (2) local ordinances or (3) statutes governing (a) Contractor’s service program 

hereunder or (b) the provision of services to persons with developmental disabilities; or 
 

13.1.4 Contractor has filed for bankruptcy, and such claim has not been 

dismissed within 90 days, or Contractor has made a general assignment for the benefit of 

creditors, or a receiver is appointed as a result of Contractor’s alleged insolvency. 
 

13.2 If RCEB determines that conditions exist under Section 13.1 which constitute 

grounds for termination of this Agreement, RCEB or its authorized representative shall notify 

Contractor in writing. 
 

13.2.1 If the basis for terminating this Agreement is based on an event described 

in Paragraphs 13.1.1, 13.1.3 or 13.1.4 above, RCEB shall deliver its termination notification by 

certified mail to Contractor 30 days in advance of termination of this Agreement, in accordance 

with the requirements set forth in 17 CCR, Section 50611 and WIC, Section 4710. Neither 

RCEB nor Contractor shall terminate this Agreement without complying with the requirements 

set forth by applicable statutes and regulations including, but not limited to, WIC, Sections 4502, 

4646, 4646.3, 4648, 4710 and 4741. 
 

(a) Such written notification shall contain the reason or reasons for 

RCEB’s intention to terminate this Agreement. Unless Contractor, within 30 days after service of 

such notice, (1) causes the condition or violation to cease, (2) remits the payment owed under 

Paragraph 13.3 below, if applicable, and (3) makes arrangements consistent with the terms of 

this Agreement and satisfactory to RCEB for the correction of the violation, this Agreement shall 

terminate upon the expiration of such 30 day period, and RCEB shall have no further obligation 

hereunder. 
 

13.2.2 If the basis for terminating this Agreement is based on any of those events 

described in Paragraph 13.1.2 above, RCEB shall deliver its termination notification to 

Contractor by registered return receipt requested mail so that it is received at least one (1) 

working day in advance of termination of this Agreement, in accordance with the requirements 

(and containing the information) set forth in 17 CCR, Sections 54370(b) and (d). This Agreement 

shall not terminate if Contractor takes either of the following actions prior to the expiration of the 

period stated in the termination notice: (1) corrects the violation(s) to RCEB’s satisfaction and 

provides documentation of the correction to RCEB or (2) timely files an appeal in accordance 

with Title 17, Section 54380(c). 
 

13.2.3 Pursuant to 17 CCR, Section 54370(g), Contractor’s filing of any request 

for hearing or appeal shall not preclude RCEB from withdrawing purchase of service 

authorizations under this Agreement if RCEB believes such withdrawal is necessary to protect 

the health, safety and welfare of its consumers. 
 

13.2.4 After this Agreement terminates, RCEB will pay for all of Contractor’s 

services performed prior to the date of termination, subject to RCEB’s offset rights as allowed 

under this Agreement and by applicable law. RCEB will remit such payment within 30 days after 

RCEB’s receipt of Contractor’s invoice for such services. 



19 2659366.2 R&D 2025-2027  

13.3 At those times when Contractor fails to provide (or fails to adequately provide) 

the services, or personnel required under this Agreement, RCEB may immediately secure such 

services from any third party, whether or not RCEB has provided a notice of termination to 

Contractor. If the cost of securing such services is greater than the cost of the service set forth 

herein, and if RCEB believes such securing of new services is necessary to protect the health, 

safety and welfare of its consumers, then Contractor shall be liable for such excess costs for the 

lesser of (1) the time period until Contractor again provides the services required under this 

Agreement or (2) the unexpired term of this Agreement, from the time such new services shall 

commence. In addition, Contractor shall be liable for any other damages sustained by RCEB 

with respect to such default. 
 

13.4 Contractor may terminate the Agreement on 60 days’ notice for reduction of 

payment rates or failure to pay monthly invoices by the deadline required under this Agreement. 
 

13.5 RCEB may, in accordance with Section 14 of this Agreement (Funding 

Contingency) terminate or modify this Agreement upon thirty (30) days written notice to 

Contractor. 
 

13.6 Neither RCEB nor Contractor shall terminate this Agreement without complying 

with the requirements set forth in applicable statutes and regulations. 
 

13.7 Contractor may terminate this Agreement for cause if RCEB fails to cure a 

material default hereunder within 30 days after receipt of written notice to do so. Such notice 

shall state the reasons for such termination. In any event, Contractor hereby waives its right to 

recover consequential damages, lost profits and/or punitive damages arising out of KRC’s breach 

of this Agreement, whether based in contract or tort. 
 

13.8 Notwithstanding anything in this Agreement to the contrary, RCEB may 

terminate this Agreement for convenience and without cause at any time on 60 days’ advance 

written notice to Contractor. 
 

14. FUNDING CONTINGENCY 
 

14.1 Notwithstanding anything in this Agreement to the contrary, the validity of this 

Agreement (including RCEB’s obligation to remit payments to Contractor) is conditioned on 

RCEB’s receipt of adequate funds from DDS to pay for the services described in this Agreement 

(the “Funding Contingency”). The Funding Contingency is a part of this Agreement because 

RCEB’s annual funding agreement with DDS provides that such funding agreement is subject to 

the appropriation of funds by the Legislature, and that if such funds are not appropriated for any 

fiscal year into which such funding agreement extends, the funding agreement is of no force and 

effect. RCEB shall therefore have the right and option to terminate this Agreement without 

liability, and such termination shall be deemed a failure of the Funding Contingency, if (1) DDS 

for any reason fails to deliver funds to RCEB for any period covered by this Agreement or (2) 

RCEB receives funds from DDS for a period covered by this Agreement but RCEB determines 

that such funds are inadequate to pay for all of the vendor services and other expenses which 

RCEB expects to incur in such fiscal year, and therefore elects to fund other services rather than 

the services identified in this Agreement or (3) RCEB receives funds from DDS for a period 



20 2659366.2 R&D 2025-2027  

covered by this Agreement and initially allocates a portion of such funds for the services in this 

Agreement, but thereafter elects to reallocate some or all of such DDS funds to fund services 

other than the services in this Agreement. When insufficient funds exist for RCEB to pay for all 

potential services to its Consumers, RCEB shall have the right (under clauses (2) and (3) above) 

in its sole and arbitrary discretion to fund services other than the services identified in this 

Agreement, based on which services RCEB believes are in the best interests of its Consumers. If 

there is a failure of the Funding Contingency, then (1) RCEB shall have no liability to pay any 

funds whatsoever to Contractor or to furnish any other considerations under this Agreement and 

(2) neither party shall be obligated to further perform any provisions of this Agreement. 
 

14.2 In addition to the above, if there are insufficient funds available from DDS to pay 

for all of the vendor services and other expenses which RCEB expects to incur in any fiscal year, 

as determined by RCEB in its sole and arbitrary discretion, RCEB shall have the option at any 

time, on 30 days’ notice to Contractor, to reduce the amount of services being provided under 

this Agreement. In such event, the parties will in good faith negotiate to attempt to agree on 

Contractor’s new amount of compensation under the modified Agreement. If the parties are 

unable to agree on Contractor’s new compensation for its reduced services within such 30 day 

period, RCEB shall then either (1) terminate this Agreement, because of the failure of a Funding 

Contingency or (2) rescind its reduction of Contractor’s services, in which event this Agreement 

shall continue in full force and effect without such reduction in services or compensation. 
 

15. COMPLIANCE WITH APPLICABLE GOVERNING PROVISIONS. 
 

15.1 State of California Law; Venue. The laws of the State of California shall govern 

the validity of this Agreement, the construction of its terms, and the interpretation of the rights 

and duties of the parties. The venue for any action file to enforce or interpret this Agreement 

shall be Alameda County, California. 
 

15.2 Applicable Statutes and Regulations. 
 

15.2.1 Contractor warrants and certifies that, in the performance of this 

Agreement, it shall comply with all Federal, State and local laws and regulations, including but 

not limited to (i) Division 2 of 17 CCR and Divisions 3 and 5 of Title 22 of the California Code 

of Regulations and (ii) Divisions 4.5 and 5 of the California WIC, and (iii) all laws and 

regulations pertaining to labor, wages, hours and other conditions of employment. 
 

15.2.2 Contractor specifically agrees to comply with the following Subchapters 

of 17 CCR, Division 2 (Department of Developmental Services): 
 

 Chapter 3, Subchapter 2 (Vendorization), Section 54326 (General 

Requirements for Vendors and Regional Centers) and Section 54327 

(Requirements for Special Incident Reporting by Vendors). 

 Chapter 1, Subchapter 6 (Service Provider Accountability), Sections 

50601 - 50612. 

 Chapter 1, Subchapter 7 (Fiscal Audit Appeals), Sections 50700- 

50767. 



21 2659366.2 R&D 2025-2027  

 Chapter 3, Subchapter 18 (Transportation Service), Sections 58500- 

58570, to the extent applicable to transportation brokers. 

 

15.2.3 The terms of this Agreement shall not be construed in such a way as to 

excuse compliance with any existing statutes and regulations. 
 

15.3 Permits and Licenses. Contractor and any agents or employees engaged in the 

provision of services under this Agreement shall maintain all current permits and licenses 

required by law for the operation of its business and shall operate only as permitted under such 

permits and licenses. 
 

15.4 Nondiscrimination Provisions. 
 

15.4.1 During the performance of this Agreement, Contractor shall not deny the 

Agreement's benefits to any person on the basis of race, religious creed, color, national origin, 

ancestry, physical disability, mental disability, medical condition, genetic information, marital 

status, sex, gender, gender identity, gender expression, age, sexual orientation, or military and 

veteran status, nor shall they discriminate unlawfully against any employee or applicant for 

employment because of race, religious creed, color, national origin, ancestry, physical disability, 

mental disability, reproductive health decision-making, medical condition, genetic information, 

marital status, sex, gender, gender identity, gender expression, age, sexual orientation, or military 

and veteran status. Contractor shall insure that the evaluation and treatment of employees and 

applicants for employment are free of such discrimination. 
 

15.4.2 Contractor shall at all times comply with the provisions of the Fair 

Employment and Housing Act (Gov. Code, § 12900 et seq.), the regulations promulgated 

thereunder (Cal. Code Regs., tit. 2, § 11000 et seq.), the provisions of Article 9.5, Chapter 1, Part 

1, Division 3, Title 2 of the Government Code (Gov. Code, §§ 11135-11139), and the regulations 

or standards adopted by the awarding state agency to implement such article. 
 

15.4.3 Contractor shall permit access by representatives of the Civil Rights 

Department and the awarding state agency upon reasonable notice at any time during normal 

business hours, but in no case less than 24 hours' notice, to such of its books, records, accounts, 

and all other sources of information and its facilities as such Department or Agency shall require 

to ascertain compliance with this Section. 
 

15.4.4 Contractor shall give written notice of its obligations under this Section to 

labor organizations with which it has a collective bargaining or other agreement. 
 

15.4.5 Contractor shall at all times comply with the provisions of the Americans 

with Disabilities Act of 1990, Title I (Employment) and Title III (Public Accommodations and 

Services Operated by Private Entities). 
 

15.4.6 Contractor shall include the nondiscrimination and compliance provisions 

of this Section 15 in any third party service agreements to perform work under this Agreement 

(which agreements are subject to RCEB’s approval as provided under Section 23). 



22 2659366.2 R&D 2025-2027  

15.5 HIPAA. Both parties shall at all times comply with the mandatory provisions of 

the HIPAA Privacy Rule (Standards for Privacy of Individually Identifiable Health Information 

at 45 Code of Federal Regulations Part 160 and Part 164, Subparts A & E). Contractor and 

RCEB shall also be bound by the Business Associate Agreement (“BAA”) entered into between 

such parties; such BAA is incorporated herein by this reference as if directly signed by each 

party. A copy of the BAA is attached hereto as Exhibit "C". 
 

15.5.1 Within five (5) days after the termination of this Agreement for any 

reason, Contractor shall (i) return to RCEB, or destroy, all protected health information 

concerning RCEB’s consumers in Contractor’s possession or control and (ii) deliver to RCEB a 

Certificate of Return or Destruction of PHI (the “Certificate”). RCEB shall provide the 

Certificate on request . 
 

15.6 Zero Tolerance Policy. Contractor shall at all times comply with RCEB’s Zero 

Tolerance Policy; such Policy is located on RCEB’s website at 

https://v6q90e.p3cdn1.secureserver.net/sites/main/files/file-attachments/zerotolerancepolicy.pdf 

and is incorporated herein by this reference. 

 

15.7 Drug-Free Workplace Policy. Contractor shall at all times maintain a drug-free 

workplace policy. 

 

15.8 HCBS Provider Agreement. Contractor represents and warrants that it has signed 

the State Department of Health and Human Services’ Home and Community Based-Services 

Provider Agreement and delivered such signed document to RCEB. 

 

15.9 Website Link to DDS Consumer Complaint Process. This Section is applicable if 

Contractor has a website. In accordance with WIC, Section 4704.6, Contractor shall 

conspicuously post on its Internet Web site a hyperlink to the DDS Internet Website page for 

complaints at https://www.dds.ca.gov/general/appeals-complaints-comments/consumer-rights-; 

and DDS’s contact information at https://www.dds.ca.gov/general/contact-us/ . 

 

15.10 Additional  Legislative  Restrictions.   In   accordance   with   17   CCR,   

Section 58524(c)(7) (Transportation Service Contracts), this Agreement is subject to any 

additional restrictions or conditions enacted by  the  California  Legislature  and  contained  in 

its annual Budget Act or any other statute enacted by the Legislature which may affect the 

provisions, terms or funding of this Agreement in any manner. 

 
 

16. INSURANCE. 
 

16.1 Workers’ Compensation Insurance. In accordance with the provision of Section 

3700 of the Labor Code of the State of California, Contractor shall maintain Workers’ 

Compensation insurance at all times during the term of this Agreement; 
 

16.2 Public Liability, Property Damage and Automobile Insurance. 

https://v6q90e.p3cdn1.secureserver.net/sites/main/files/file-attachments/zerotolerancepolicy.pdf
https://www.dds.ca.gov/general/appeals-complaints-comments/regional-center-or-vendor-contractor-whistleblower-complaints/
https://www.dds.ca.gov/general/appeals-complaints-comments/regional-center-or-vendor-contractor-whistleblower-complaints/
https://www.dds.ca.gov/general/appeals-complaints-comments/regional-center-or-vendor-contractor-whistleblower-complaints/
http://www.dds.ca.gov/general/contact-us/


23 2659366.2 R&D 2025-2027  

16.2.1 Contractor shall at all times during the term of this Agreement maintain all 

insurance as required by RCEB including public liability and property damage insurance 

(including automotive coverage), with endorsements satisfactory to RCEB and in the amount of 

One Million Dollars ($1,000,000.00) combined single limit, which shall be primary and non- 

contributory over any and all valid and collectable insurance which may be available to RCEB. 

Contractor shall obtain all necessary endorsements and additional coverages to protect RCEB 

against all loss and liability arising out of Contractor’s and its employees’, representatives’ and 

agents’ use of all vehicles, including separate automobile insurance if applicable. Such insurance 

shall include a broad form property (including contractual liability) endorsement for the benefit 

of RCEB. Contractor shall obtain “Owned, Non-Owned and hired Automobile Insurance” for the 

benefit of RCEB, each with the limits of liability for bodily injury and property damage as set 

forth above. Such insurance shall apply on an “any auto” basis. Contractor shall not commence 

work under this Agreement until it has obtained all required insurance, and certificates of 

insurance have been delivered to and approved by RCEB. All of Contractor’s insurance carriers 

shall at all times be licensed to transact the business of insurance in the State of California, shall 

have a rating of A- and VII or higher in the most current edition of Best’s Insurance Guide, and 

shall be acceptable to RCEB. All of Contractor’s policies or certificates of insurance shall 

include substantially the following clause: This policy shall not be canceled as to coverage until 

written notice has been given to Regional Center of the East Bay of such cancellation by 

Contractor. The date of cancellation shall not be less than 30 days after such notice is given (10 

days for non-payment). 
 

16.2.2 All of Contractor’s insurance (including but not limited to the Owned, 

Non-Owned and Hired Automobile Insurance) shall contain a Named Insured Endorsement 

which names RCEB as an additional insured or a Blanket Additional Insured Endorsement. In 

addition, each certificate of insurance shall list RCEB as an additional insured, shall state the 

extent of insurance, the locations and operations to which insurance applies and the expiration 

date of the insurance. 
 

16.2.3 Contractor shall at all times provide RCEB with current copies of 

Contractor’s insurance certificates. If Contractor fails to provide valid current copies of such 

certificates, RCEB may terminate this Agreement as provided in Section 13, and obtain any 

services to be provided by Contractor hereunder from any other transportation broker. 
 

16.3 Waiver of Subrogation. Contractor’s insurance policies shall contain a waiver of 

subrogation clause for the benefit of RCEB. 
 

16.4 No Compensation While Uninsured or Underinsured; Remedies Available to 

RCEB. If at any time during the term of this Agreement the insurance required pursuant to this 

Section 16 is canceled, reduced or modified, or is otherwise not in force, (1) Contractor shall not 

be entitled to payment for any services rendered during any such time period and (2) RCEB shall 

have the option (but not the obligation) to pay any premium necessary to reinstate such insurance 

to the amounts and coverage required under this Agreement, in which event RCEB shall deduct 

such costs from the next sums owed to Contractor. 
 

 

 

17. INDEMNITY. 



24 2659366.2 R&D 2025-2027  

17.1 To the fullest extent permitted by law, Contractor agrees to indemnify, defend and 

hold harmless RCEB, DDS the State of California and their respective officers, directors, agents 

and employees (collectively, the “Indemnitees”) from every claim, demand, loss, liability and 

expense (including but not limited to attorneys’ fees) made or incurred by reason of: 
 

17.1.1 Any personal injury or property damage sustained by Contractor or any 

person or entity rendering any services under this Agreement on behalf of Contractor, either 

directly or indirectly, however caused; and 
 

17.1.2 Any personal injury or property damage sustained by any person, or 

entity, caused by or resulting from any act, neglect, default, or omissions of Contractor or of any 

person, or entity performing any services in connection with this Agreement on behalf of 

Contractor; and 
 

17.1.3 Claims under workers’ compensation laws or other employee benefit laws 

by Contractor’s agents or employees; and 
 

17.1.4 Contractor’s failure to fulfill its obligations under this Agreement in strict 

accordance with its terms, including Contractor’s breach of any representations or covenants 

given in this Agreement; and 
 

17.1.5 A violation of any local, state, or federal law, regulation or code by 

Contractor or by any of Contractor’s employees, agents, consultants or authorized 

subcontractors in connection with the conduct of their activities performed in connection with 

this Agreement. 
 

17.2 Contractor at its own expense and risk shall defend any action, legal proceeding, 

or arbitration or other mediation proceeding, that may be brought against the Indemnitees or any 

of them on any such claim or demand as set forth above. Contractor shall defend such matter by 

counsel reasonably satisfactory to RCEB. The Indemnitees need not have first paid any such 

claim in order to be so indemnified. Contractor shall also pay and satisfy any settlement, or any 

judgment which may be rendered against the Indemnitees or any of them arising from any 

injuries described in this Section 17, including but not limited to those claims and demands 

resulting from the negligence of the Indemnitees or any of them; provided, however, Contractor 

shall have no duty to indemnify any particular Indemnitee for those injuries caused to Contractor 

or a third party by the gross negligence of such Indemnitee. 
 

17.3 The indemnity set forth in this Section 17 shall apply during the term of this 

Agreement and shall also survive the expiration, rescission or termination of this Agreement, 

until such time as action against the Indemnitees on account of any matter covered by such 

indemnity is barred by the applicable statute of limitations. 
 

18. AMENDMENTS AND WAIVERS. 
 

18.1 Contract Amendments and Modifications. The parties to this Agreement may 

amend, extend or otherwise modify the scope of services as described herein. However, any such 

modifications shall not be valid unless they are documented in writing and signed by all parties 

to this Agreement. 



25 2659366.2 R&D 2025-2027  

18.2 Compliance. Any amendment or modification of this Agreement shall comply 

with requirements of applicable Federal, State and local statutes and regulations. 
 

18.3 Waiver; Cumulative Remedies. The failure of a party to enforce any of its rights 

by reason of any breach of a covenant by the other party will not constitute a waiver of such 

breach. No custom or practice which may develop between the parties in the course of 

administrating this Agreement will be construed to waive any party’s right to insist upon the 

performance by the other party of any covenant in this Agreement. A waiver of a particular 

breach will not be deemed to be a waiver of the same or any other subsequent breach. RCEB’s 

remedies in this Agreement shall be cumulative and in addition to any other remedies in law or 

equity. 
 

19. INDEPENDENT CONTRACTOR STATUS. In accordance with 17 CCR, Section 

50607 (Regional Center Contracting Requirements), Contractor agrees that Contractor and any 

agents and employees retained by Contractor in the provision of services pursuant to this 

Agreement, act in an independent capacity and are not acting as an officer, employee or agent of 

RCEB or the State of California. 
 

20. ATTORNEYS’ FEES AND COSTS. If any legal action or proceeding is commenced  

by either party to enforce or interpret any provisions or rights under this Agreement, the 

unsuccessful party to such action or proceeding (as determined by the court in a final judgment 

or decree) shall pay the prevailing party its attorneys’ fees and costs (including, without 

limitation, such costs and fees on any appeal). If such prevailing party shall recover judgment in 

any such action or proceeding, such costs, expenses and attorney’s fees shall be included as part 

of such judgment. 
 

21. NOTICES. Except where oral notification is specifically provided for herein, all notices 

and information of any kind to be given by either party hereto to the other party shall be in 

writing and shall be deemed delivered (i) upon delivery, if delivered in person, or by email (with 

return receipt acknowledgement), or (ii) as of the next business day after mailing if delivered by 

a nationally recognized overnight delivery carrier (e.g., Federal Express) or (iii) three (3) days 

after same is deposited in the United States Mail, first-class postage prepaid, addressed to the 

parties at the addresses set forth in Section 1 above, and via email to RCEB at 

srobinson@rceb.org. Notices to RCEB shall be addressed to the attention of Steve Robinson, 

Director of Community Services of Regional Center of the East Bay. Notices to Contractor shall 

be addressed to R & D Transportation, Inc., Attn: Leticia Leon, Vice President and via email to 

R&D at lettyl@rdtsi.com . 
 

22. FORCE MAJEURE, SERVICE REASSIGNMENTS AND RATIONING. 
 

22.1 All parties herein shall be excused from performance hereunder during the time 

and to the extent that each is prevented from performing by acts of God, epidemics, pandemics, 

strikes or commandeering of vehicles, materials, products, plants or facilities by the government, 

or any other event which is beyond the reasonable control of such party when reasonable 

evidence thereof is presented to the other party. 
 

22.2 RCEB reserves the right to assign any areas covered by this Agreement to another 

contractor, either in whole or in part, whenever Contractor is unable to perform due to strike of 

mailto:srobinson@rceb.org
mailto:lettyl@rdtsi.com


26 2659366.2 R&D 2025-2027  

Contractor’s employees or such other conditions as are specified in Paragraph 22.1 above. In 

such event, the assignment will cover the period in which Contractor is unable to perform and 

will end when Contractor has presented satisfactory evidence to RCEB that Contractor is again 

able to perform the work hereunder. 
 

22.3 RCEB shall bear the complete costs for any and all interim service assigned by 

RCEB in accordance with Paragraph 22.2. 
 

22.4 In the event of rationing of any product or commodity due to a local, regional or 

national emergency, Contractor shall give RCEB high priority with respect to Contractor’s other 

non-Regional Center accounts. The services provided by Contractor hereunder satisfy an 

important public policy, which is to preserve and protect the rights of individuals with 

intellectual and developmental disabilities. 
 

22.4.1 Should it become necessary by rationing to curtail Contractor’s services, 

either in whole or in part, it shall be the sole and exclusive right of RCEB to direct Contractor in 

the priority and methods of reducing services, including the elimination of routes and rerouting 

of existing consumers. 
 

22.5 In the event Contractor has an insufficient number of personnel or resources to 

adequately discharge all of its responsibilities under this Agreement at any time, (1) Contractor 

shall give RCEB priority over all of Contractor’s other non-Regional Center accounts and (2) 

Contractor shall not allocate any resources allocated to RCEB to any other party without the 

express written approval of RCEB. Since the services provided by Contractor hereunder satisfy 

an important public policy, which is to preserve and protect the rights of individuals with 

intellectual and developmental disabilities, RCEB may specifically enforce its rights under this 

Paragraph by injunctive relief, including a temporary restraining order, a preliminary injunction 

and a permanent injunction, pending either the full restoration of Contractor’s services or the 

termination of this Agreement by RCEB. 
 

23. SUBCONTRACTING AND ASSIGNMENTS. 
 

23.1 Contractor shall not subcontract any part of the services to be provided pursuant 

to this Agreement without prior written approval of RCEB, which may be withheld in RCEB’s 

sole and absolute discretion. In addition, Contractor shall not assign its rights in this Agreement. 

The transfer of 50 percent or more of the equity interest of the ownership of Contractor, either 

through one (1) transaction or on a cumulative basis, shall be deemed an assignment. 
 

23.2 All terms of this agreement will be binding upon and inure to the benefit of the 

parties and their respective administrators or executors, successors and assigns. However, 

nothing in this Paragraph shall be construed to modify Paragraph 23.1. 
 

24. CONTRACT INTERPRETATION AND ENFORCEABILITY. 
 

24.1 Severability. If any provision of this Agreement is held to be inoperative, 

unenforceable or otherwise invalid, the remaining provisions hereof shall be carried into effect 

without regard to such inoperative, unenforceable or otherwise invalid provision. If any 



27 2659366.2 R&D 2025-2027  

provision is held to be inoperative, unenforceable or otherwise invalid with respect to particular 

circumstances, it shall nevertheless remain in full force and effect in all other circumstances. 
 

24.2 Interpretation. This Agreement shall not be interpreted against the drafter but shall 

be interpreted with the understanding that both parties have had input in the final draft of this 

Agreement. 
 

24.3 Section Headings, Etc. The section headings are not intended to define, limit, 

extend or interpret the scope of this Agreement or any particular paragraph. The masculine, 

feminine or neuter gender and the singular or plural number, shall each be deemed to include the 

others whenever the context so indicates. 
 

25. INTEGRATED AGREEMENT; NO TERMS NOT INCLUDED; CONFLICTING 

PROVISIONS. This Agreement and its Exhibits contain all the terms and conditions agreed 

upon by the parties hereto, and no other agreements, oral or otherwise, regarding the subject 

matter of this Agreement shall be deemed to exist or bind either of the parties hereto. This 

Agreement supersedes all prior agreements, representations, and understandings of the parties, 

either oral or written regarding the subject matter hereof. This Agreement shall not be amended 

or modified, except in a writing signed by the parties that complies with the requirements of all 

statutes and regulations applicable to this Agreement. If any conflicts or inconsistencies exist 

between the provisions in this Agreement and the provisions in any other agreement between the 

parties, the provisions which are, in RCEB’s reasonable judgment, most protective of the 

Consumers shall prevail. 

 

 

-No Further Text on This Page- 



28 2659366.2 R&D 2025-2027  

26. AUTHORIZED REPRESENTATIVES; COUNTERPARTS; DELIVERY. Each 

party represents that the party signing below is an authorized representative of such party and has 

the authority to bind such party to this Agreement. This Agreement may be executed in 

counterparts, each of which shall be deemed an original and all of which shall be considered a 

single instrument. Copies of this Agreement executed electronically (such as via DocuSign) 

and/or delivered and received electronically (such as a PDF attachment to an email) shall be 

deemed the same as originals. 
 

Executed in San Leandro, California as of the date first written above. 

 
“Contractor”: 

 

R & D Transportation Services, Inc., a 

California corporation 

 
 

By:   

Leticia Leon, Vice President 

“RCEB”: 

 

Regional Center of the East Bay, Inc., a 

California nonprofit corporation 

 
 

By:    

Steve Robinson, Director of Community Services   
 

By:__________________________________                 

Lynn Nguyen, Director of Finance and Administration   

 

Exhibits:  

A-Payment Agreement 

B-Business Associate Agreement     



2659366.2 R&D 2024-2025  

 

PAYMENT AGREEMENT 

 

Exhibit A 

(R & D Transportation Services, Inc.) 
 

 

Regional Center of the East Bay, Inc., a California nonprofit corporation (“RCEB”) and 

R&D Transportation Services, Inc., a California corporation (“Contractor”) are parties to an 

Agreement for Transportation Broker Services dated July 1, 2025 (the “Agreement”). This 

Payment Agreement is part of the Agreement. 

 

In consideration for the provision of services by Contractor under the Agreement, RCEB 

shall compensate Contractor pursuant to the rates established below. Contractor agrees to accept 

the rates established as payment in full. The following are estimates, and reflect the average 

expected monthly fixed service fee projected over 12-month period. RCEB will remit actual 

payments to Contractor based on the numbers of consumers actually served each month: 

 

1. Projected Rates of Payment. 

 

 
 

Sub Code 

 

Rate 

Description 

 

Unit 

Type 

Expected 

Monthly 

Service Fee 

Number 

of Service 

Months 

 
 

FY Estimate 

 

883-MFSF 
Fixed Service 

Fee 

 

Monthly 
 

$223,776.00 
 

12 
 

$2,685,312.00 

 

The benchmark rates for Service Code 883 are $3.54 for ambulatory and $3.62 for non- 

ambulatory trips. The R&D monthly fixed service fee estimate is calculated based on the per trip 

rates approved by the rate study model with consideration to the expected number of people 

served daily/monthly (based on DDS-approved per trip rates effective January 1, 2025): 

 

 
DDS Approved Rate 

Per Trip 

 
Expected # 

of Trips 

Estimate Based 

on Trips 

Scheduled 

Estimated 

Monthly 

Service Fee 

 

FY Estimate 

 
Category 

 
Rate 

Daily 

Trips 

 
Daily Rate 

 
21 Service Days 

 
12 Months 

Ambulatory $3.54 2,550.00 $9,027.00 $189,567.00 $2,274,804.00 

Non- 

Ambulatory 

 
$3.62 

 
450.00 

 
$1,629.00 

 
$34,209.00 

 
$410,508.00 

 
Totals 

 
$10,656.00 

 
$223,776.00 

 
$2,685,312.00 



2659366.2 R&D 2024-2025  

 

2. Rate Change Notification Letters. RCEB will document any future adjustment to 

Contractor’s rate of payment through delivery of Rate Change Notification Letters to Contractor. 

Such letters do not require Contractor’s signature and shall become effective upon delivery. 

RCEB shall either (i) attach all Rate Change Notification Letters to the Agreement or (ii) retain 

all Rate Change Notification Letters in its vendor files for Contractor. Each Rate Change 

Notification Letter is incorporated into this Agreement by this reference. 

 

3. Rate Adjustment Appeals. If Contractor believes any adjustment pursuant to any Rate 

Change Notification Letter is inaccurate, Contractor must contact RCEB within 60 days after 

RCEB's delivery of such Rate Change Notification Letter (the "Appeal Deadline"). After receipt 

of any such notice, RCEB will investigate the request and, if it is valid, reset the rate of payment, 

after consultation with DDS if applicable. If RCEB fails to receive notice from Contractor of any 

rate schedule inaccuracy by the applicable Appeal Deadline, the new rate of payment in the Rate 

Change Notification Letter shall be conclusively deemed the correct rate of payment. 

 

4. Termination. This Payment Agreement is part of the attached Agreement, and shall 

automatically terminate on the earlier of (i) the termination of the Agreement or (ii) the date 

Contractor ceases providing services to RCEB’s Consumers. 

 

5. Counterparts; Delivery. This Payment Agreement may be executed in counterparts, each 

of which shall be deemed an original and both of which shall constitute a single instrument. 

Copies of this Payment Agreement executed electronically (such as via DocuSign) and/or 

delivered and received electronically (such as a PDF attachment to an email) shall be deemed the 

same as originals. 

 

Executed in Alameda County, California as of the date first written above. 

 
“Contractor”: 

 

R & D Transportation Services, Inc., 

a California corporation 

 
 

By:   

Leticia Leon, 

         Vice President 

“RCEB”: 

 

Regional Center of the East Bay, Inc., 

a California nonprofit corporation 

 
 

By:  

Steve Robinson 

Director of Community Services 

 

By:  

Lynn Nguyen 

Director of Finance and Administration 



2659366.2 R&D 2024-2025  

 

Exhibit B 
 

BUSINESS ASSOCIATE AGREEMENT 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

[ATTACH BEFORE SIGNING AGREEMENT] 



  Exhibit B  

 

Business Associate Agreement - Contractor Page 1 of 9 
1056828.1  

BUSINESS ASSOCIATE AGREEMENT - CONTRACTOR 

This Business Associate Agreement - Contractor (“Agreement”), effective as of         

July 1, 2025, is entered into by and between Regional Center of the East Bay, Inc., a California 

nonprofit corporation ("RCEB") and R&D Transportation, Inc., a California corporation 

("Contractor”). Contractor and RCEB are each referred to herein as a "Party," and collectively, 

the "Parties." The Parties enter into this Agreement in accordance with the following facts: 

A.  RCEB arranges for the provision of services to individuals with developmental 

disabilities (“Consumers”). In providing its services, RCEB acts as a Business Associate of the 

California Department of Developmental Services (“Covered Entity”). As a necessary part of 

arranging services to Consumers served by Covered Entity, RCEB may have access to Protected 

Health Information (“PHI”) as such term is defined in the Health Insurance Portability and 

Accountability Act of 1996, as amended (“HIPAA”), and its Privacy and Security Rules.   

B.  Contractor is, or desires to be, vendorized by RCEB to provide services to RCEB’s 

Consumers. Once Contractor is vendorized, RCEB may elect to enter into one or more 

agreements with Contractor (each, a “Service Provider Agreement”) to provide specific 

services to specific Consumers. 

C.  Under each Service Provider Agreement, it is anticipated that Contractor may receive 

and use PHI from and related to RCEB’s Consumers.  

D. The purpose of this Agreement is to comply with the requirements of HIPAA, its 

associated regulations (45 CFR Parts 160-164), and the Health Information Technology for 

Economic and Clinical Health Act (the “HITECH Act”), Title XIII of Division A and Title IV 

of Division B of the American Recovery and Reinvestment Act of 2009 (Pub.L. 111-5), as these 

laws may be amended, as well as any state law(s) or regulation(s) governing the privacy and 

security protections of confidential information created or received by Contractor pursuant to 

each Service Provider Agreement. 

In consideration of the following mutual covenants, the Parties therefore agree as 

follows:  

1. DEFINITIONS.  Except as otherwise defined herein, any and all capitalized 

terms in this Agreement shall have the definitions set forth in HIPAA and its Privacy and 

Security Rules.  

2. OBLIGATIONS AND DUTIES OF CONTRACTOR.  

2.1 General.  Contractor agrees not to use or disclose any Consumer’s PHI 

other than as permitted or required by this Agreement or by applicable law. 

2.2 Safeguard.  In accordance with 45 CFR Part 164, Subpart C and 45 CFR 

§164.314(a)(2)(i)(A)&(B), Contractor agrees to use appropriate administrative, physical and 

technical safeguards to prevent the use or disclosure of any Consumer’s PHI, including 

Electronic PHI other than as provided for by this Agreement.   



 

Business Associate Agreement - Contractor Page 2 of 9 
1056828.1  

2.3  Standard Transactions. Under HIPAA, the US Department of Health and 

Human Services has adopted certain standard transactions for the electronic exchange of health 

care data (“Standard Transactions”). If Contractor conducts any Standard Transactions on 

behalf of Covered Entity or RCEB, Contractor shall comply with the applicable requirements of 

45 C.F.R. Parts 160-162. Contractor acknowledges that as of the effective date of this Agreement 

it may be civilly and/or criminally liable for failure to comply with the safeguards, policies, and 

procedure requirements, or any of the use and disclosure requirements, established by law. 

2.4 Mitigation.   Contractor agrees to mitigate, to the extent practicable and 

appropriate, any harmful effect that is known to Contractor of a use or disclosure of PHI by 

Contractor in violation of the requirements of this Agreement. 

2.5 Agents; Subcontractors.  Contractor agrees to ensure that its agents, 

including any subcontractor, to whom it provides PHI received from, or created or received by 

Contractor on behalf of Covered Entity or RCEB, agrees to the same restrictions and conditions 

applicable to Contractor with respect to such information.   

2.6 Access to PHI by Covered Entity, RCEB or Consumer.  Consumers have a 

right to access their PHI in a designated record set. A “Designated Record Set” is defined at 45 

CFR 164.501 as a group of records maintained by or for a Covered Entity that comprises the (i) 

medical records and billing records about Consumers maintained by or for a Covered Entity, (ii) 

enrollment, payment, claims adjudication, and case or medical management record systems 

maintained by or for a health plan, or (iii) other records that are used, in whole or in part, by or 

for the Covered Entity to make decisions about Consumers. The term “record” means any item, 

collection, or grouping of information that includes PHI and is maintained, collected, used, or 

disseminated by or for a Covered Entity. If applicable, and upon request by Covered Entity or 

RCEB, Contractor agrees to provide access to Covered Entity, RCEB or to a Consumer as 

directed by Covered Entity or RCEB, the PHI in a Designated Record Set within fifteen (15) 

days in order to meet the requirements under 45 C.F.R. section 164.524.  In addition, as of the 

effective date of this Agreement, with respect to information contained in an Electronic Health 

Record, Contractor will provide access to such records in electronic format. 

2.7 Amendments to PHI.  If applicable, Contractor agrees to make any 

amendment(s) to PHI in a Designated Record Set as directed or agreed to by Covered Entity or 

RCEB pursuant to 45 C.F.R. section 164.526, and as requested by the Covered Entity, RCEB or 

a Consumer, within fifteen (15) days of receipt of a request.  Any denials, in whole or in part, of 

requested amendments shall be made by Contractor in accordance with 45 C.F.R. section 

164.526.   

2.8 Audit.  Contractor agrees that the Secretary of the Department of Health 

and Human Services (the “Secretary”) shall have the right to audit Contractor's internal records, 

books, policies, and practices relating to the use and disclosure of PHI received from, or created 

or received by Contractor on behalf of Covered Entity or RCEB, in a time and manner agreed to 

by the Parties, or as otherwise designated by the Secretary, for purposes of the Secretary 

determining compliance with the HIPAA Privacy Rule.   



 

Business Associate Agreement - Contractor Page 3 of 9 
1056828.1  

2.9 Documentation of Disclosed Information.  Contractor agrees to document 

disclosures of PHI, and information related to such disclosures (collectively, “Disclosed 

Information”), as would be required for Covered Entity or RCEB to respond to a request by 

Consumer for an accounting of disclosures of PHI in accordance with 45 C.F.R. section 164.528, 

as amended from time to time.  Contractor hereby agrees to take reasonable steps to enable it to 

comply with the requirements of this section and to notify RCEB of any such requests.  

Contractor shall promptly notify RCEB of the existence of any Disclosed Information. 

2.10 Disclosure Accounting; Retention.  Contractor agrees to provide Disclosed 

Information to Covered Entity, RCEB or to Consumer at Covered Entity’s or RCEB’s request, 

within fifteen (15) days of such request, in order to permit Covered Entity to meet its obligations 

in accordance with 45 CFR section 164.528.  Contractor shall maintain Disclosed Information 

for six (6) years following the date of the event or incident to which such information relates. 

2.11 Privacy or Security Breach.   

2.11.1 In accordance with applicable law, Contractor agrees to give 

written notice (an “Incident Notice”) to Covered Entity and RCEB of any (a) use or disclosure 

of PHI that is not in compliance with the terms of this Agreement, of which it becomes aware 

(“Breach”) and (b) attempted or actual Security Incident (collectively with a Breach, an 

“Incident”).  An Incident Notice shall be made without unreasonable delay and, in no event, 

later than twenty four (24) hours after discovery of such Incident, except where a law 

enforcement official determines that a notification would impede a criminal investigation or 

cause damage to national security as described in 45 C.F.R. § 164.412.  In addition, an Incident 

Notice shall include (to the extent possible) the following information: 

(a) identification of each Consumer whose Unsecured PHI has 

been, or is reasonably believed to have been, accessed, acquired, or disclosed during the 

Incident; 

(b) the circumstances constituting and, to the extent relevant, 

surrounding the Incident (including, without limitation, the individual(s) causing the Incident and 

the person(s) receiving or accessing the PHI), the date of the Incident and date of discovery; 

(c) the PHI affected or disclosed by the Incident on an 

individual Consumer-by-individual Consumer basis;  

(d) the steps Contractor is taking to investigate and correct the 

Incident, mitigate harm or loss to affected Consumers, and protect against future similar 

Incidences,   

(e) the actions which Consumers affected by the Incident 

should take to protect their interests; and  

(f) a contact person for additional information.   

2.11.2 Contractor shall cooperate with Covered Entity and RCEB in the 

investigation of the Incident, and in conducting any risk assessment necessary to determine 



 

Business Associate Agreement - Contractor Page 4 of 9 
1056828.1  

whether notification of the Incident is required, and shall maintain, and provide at the direction 

of RCEB or Covered Entity, all reasonable and appropriate documents, files, records, or logs 

related to the Incident. For purposes of discovery and reporting of an Incident, Contractor agrees 

that it shall not be the agent of RCEB. 

2.11.3 To the extent that any Incident involves a Breach of Unsecured 

PHI, and upon the request of RCEB or Covered Entity, Contractor shall provide notice to 

impacted Consumers, the media and the Secretary in the time and manner required by 42 U.S.C. 

§ 17932 and 45 C.F.R. §§ 164.404, 164.406 and 164.408.  Prior to providing any such notice, 

Contractor shall provide RCEB and Covered Entity with a reasonable opportunity to review and 

comment on such notice. Contractor shall maintain complete records regarding the Incident, the 

determination of whether notice is required and the issuance of the notice (including the 

recipients and content of such notice), and upon request, shall make such records available to 

RCEB and Covered Entity.  Contractor shall also provide to Consumers affected by the Incident, 

upon the request of the Covered Entity or RCEB, such remedies as may be reasonably necessary 

or appropriate to mitigate the deleterious effects of the Incident including, without limitation, 

provision of credit report monitoring for a reasonable period of time.  Any such remedies 

provided by Contractor pursuant to this section shall be at the sole expense of Contractor. 

2.11.4 Notwithstanding Section 2.11.3 above, if RCEB or Covered Entity 

elects to provide the notice referenced in Section 2.11.3, Contractor shall promptly provide to 

RCEB and Covered Entity, the information required by 42 U.S.C. § 17932 and 45 C.F.R. §§ 

164.404, 164.406 and 164.408, to the extent not previously provided in an Incident Notice.   

2.11.5 Any annual notification to the Secretary as required under 42 

U.S.C. § 17932(e) and 45 C.F.R. § 164.408(c), shall be provided by Covered Entity or RCEB, 

unless Covered Entity or RCEB directs Contractor to provide such notice within fifteen (15) days 

after the close of the calendar year.  Contractor shall provide RCEB and Covered Entity a copy 

of the annual notification before it is provided to the Secretary sufficiently in advance of the due 

date to permit Covered Entity or RCEB to revise the notification as may be appropriate.   

2.12 Genetic Information.  Contractor shall not undertake any activity that may 

be considered underwriting based on genetic information, as defined by the Genetic Information 

Nondiscrimination Act and prohibited under the HIPAA Privacy & Security Rules. 

2.13 Compliance.  Contractor shall comply with all other privacy and security 

requirements made applicable to it by HIPAA, the HITECH Act and the HITECH Rules as 

promulgated by the Secretary. In addition, Contractor shall comply at all times with the 

requirements imposed on Covered Entity, RCEB and Contractor by state health information 

privacy laws including, without limitation, the Confidentiality of Medical Information Act (Cal. 

Civ. Code §56 et seq.) and the Lanterman-Petris-Short Act (Cal. Welfare & Inst. Code §5000 et 

seq.)  

3. PERMITTED USES AND DISCLOSURES BY CONTRACTOR.  

3.1 Business Relationship Activities.  Except as otherwise limited in this 

Agreement, Contractor may use or disclose PHI to perform functions, activities, or services for, 



 

Business Associate Agreement - Contractor Page 5 of 9 
1056828.1  

or on behalf of, Covered Entity and RCEB as specified in the ongoing contractual relationships 

among the Parties and Covered Entity, provided that such use or disclosure would not violate the 

HIPAA Privacy Rule or Security Rule if done by Covered Entity, nor violate the minimum 

necessary policies and procedures of the Covered Entity.  For this purpose, the determination of 

what constitutes the “minimum necessary” amount of PHI shall be determined in accordance 

with 45 C.F.R. section 164.502(b), as amended by section 13405 of the HITECH Act. Without 

limitation of the foregoing, Contractor shall limit the use, disclosure, or request of PHI, to the 

extent practicable, to the Limited Data Set (as defined in 45 C.F.R. §164.514(e)(2)) or, if needed 

by Contractor, to the minimum necessary amount of PHI to satisfy the requirements of each 

applicable Service Provider Agreement.   

3.2 Management and Administration of Contractor.  Except as otherwise 

limited in this Agreement, Contractor may disclose PHI for the proper management and 

administration of Contractor, provided that disclosures are Required by Law, or Contractor 

obtains reasonable assurances from the person to whom the information is disclosed that such 

PHI will remain confidential and used or further disclosed only as required by law or for the 

purpose for which it was disclosed to the person, and the person agrees to notify Contractor and 

RCEB within one (1) day of discovery of any Incident. 

3.3 Data Aggregation.  Except as otherwise limited by this Agreement, 

Contractor may disclose PHI to provide Data Aggregation services to Covered Entity or RCEB 

as permitted by 45 CFR 164.504(e)(2)(i)(B).  Any aggregated data will be de-identified in 

compliance with 45 C.F.R. 164.502(d) before it is disclosed.  Contractor agrees that it will not 

disclose any re-identification key or other mechanism to re-identify the data. 

3.4 Remuneration.  Contractor shall not directly or indirectly receive 

remuneration in exchange for any PHI unless informed by RCEB or Covered Entity that Covered 

Entity has first obtained a valid authorization from the applicable Consumer that specifically 

allows PHI to be further exchanged for remuneration by the entity receiving such PHI, or the 

receipt of such remuneration complies with an otherwise available exception under HIPAA or 

the HITECH Act. 

3.5 Violations of Law.  Contractor may use PHI to report violations of law to 

appropriate federal and state authorities, consistent with 45 CFR 164.502(j)(1).  

4. OBLIGATIONS AND DUTIES OF RCEB.  

4.1 Notice of Privacy Practices.  RCEB shall inform Contractor of any 

limitation(s) in Covered Entity’s or RCEB’s notice of privacy practices in accordance with 45 

C.F.R. section 164.520, to the extent that such limitation(s), if any, may affect Contractor's use or 

disclosure of PHI.  RCEB may satisfy this requirement by providing Contractor with the notices 

of privacy practices that Covered Entity and RCEB delivers in accordance with 45 C.F.R. section 

164.520, as well as any changes to such notice. 

4.2 Notice to Consumers of Permission.  RCEB shall notify Contractor of any 

changes in, or revocation of, permission by a Consumer to use or disclose PHI which RCEB 



 

Business Associate Agreement - Contractor Page 6 of 9 
1056828.1  

receives from Covered Entity, to the extent that such changes may affect Contractor's use or 

disclosure of PHI.  

4.3 Notice of Other Restrictions.  RCEB shall notify Contractor of any 

restriction to the use or disclosure of PHI which RCEB receives from Covered Entity to which 

Covered Entity has agreed in accordance with 45 C.F.R. section 164.522, to the extent that such 

restriction may affect Contractor's use or disclosure of PHI.  

4.4 Impermissible Requests.  RCEB shall not request Contractor to use or 

disclose PHI in any manner that would not be permissible under the HIPAA Privacy Rule if done 

by RCEB or Covered Entity.   

5. TERM AND TERMINATION. 

5.1 General.  This Agreement shall remain in effect for so long as RCEB and 

Contractor are parties to one or more Service Provider Agreements and shall terminate when all 

of the PHI provided to Contractor, or created or received by Contractor, is destroyed or returned 

to RCEB or Covered Entity. If it is infeasible to return or destroy PHI as set forth above, the 

terms of this Agreement shall be extended to such PHI in perpetuity, in accordance with the 

termination provisions set forth below. 

5.2 Termination for Cause.  RCEB may terminate this Agreement for cause 

upon discovery of a material breach by Contractor as follows:  

5.2.1 RCEB shall provide an opportunity for Contractor to cure the 

breach within ten (10) days from the date RCEB provides Contractor notice of the breach, or 

such longer period as may be agreed to by the Parties.  If Contractor does not cure the breach 

within the cure period, then RCEB may immediately terminate this Agreement and any related 

Service Provider Agreement(s) in place between the Parties; or 

5.2.2 RCEB may immediately terminate this Agreement, and any related 

Service Provider Agreement(s) in place between the Parties, if Contractor has breached a 

material term of this Agreement and cure is not possible; or 

5.2.3 If neither termination nor cure is feasible, RCEB shall report the 

violation to Covered Entity and the Secretary.  

5.3 Return of PHI.  Upon termination:  

5.3.1 Except as provided in paragraph 5.3.2 of this section, upon 

termination of this Agreement for any reason, Contractor shall return or destroy all PHI received 

from Covered Entity or RCEB, or created or received by Contractor on behalf of Covered Entity 

or RCEB.  This provision shall apply to PHI that is in the possession of subcontractors or agents 

of Contractor.  Contractor shall retain no copies of the PHI.  

5.3.2 If Contractor determines that returning or destroying the PHI is not 

feasible or practicable, Contractor shall provide to Covered Entity and RCEB notification of the 

conditions that make return or destruction impossible or impracticable.  Upon such notification, 



 

Business Associate Agreement - Contractor Page 7 of 9 
1056828.1  

Contractor shall extend the protections of this Agreement to any retained PHI received hereunder 

and limit any further uses and disclosures to those purposes that make the return or destruction of 

the information impossible or impracticable for so long as Contractor maintains such PHI.  

6. GENERAL PROVISIONS.  

6.1 Notice.  All notices, requests, and other communications given under this 

Agreement, shall be in writing and deemed duly given: (a) when delivered personally to the 

recipient; (b) one (1) business day after being sent to the recipient by reputable overnight courier 

service (charges prepaid); or (c) five (5) business days after being sent by U.S. certified mail 

(charges prepaid).  Except as otherwise provided herein, all notices, requests or communications 

under this Agreement shall be addressed to the intended recipient as set forth below: 

To RCEB: 

Regional Center of the East Bay 

Attention: Genia Lindberg 
500 Davis Street, Suite 100 

San Leandro, CA 94577 

To Contractor: 

R&D Transportation, Inc. 
Leticia Leon 

807 Camarillo Springs Road, Suite B                             

Camarillo, California 93012 

6.2 Regulatory References.  A reference in this Agreement to any section in 

the HIPAA Privacy Rule or Security Rule, or the HITECH Act, means the section as presently in 

effect or as amended.  

6.3 Amendment.  The Parties agree to take reasonable action to amend this 

Agreement from time to time as is necessary for all Parties to comply with the requirements of 

HIPAA, the HITECH Act, and all related, applicable state and federal laws.  

6.4 Survival.  The respective rights and obligations of Contractor under 

Sections 5 and 6 of this Agreement shall survive termination of this Agreement.  

6.5 Interpretation.  Any ambiguity in this Agreement shall be resolved to 

permit compliance with the HIPAA Privacy Rule and Security Rule, and the HITECH Act.  If 

there is an inconsistency between the provisions of this Agreement and mandatory provisions of 

these statutes, the applicable statutory language shall control.  Where provisions of this 

Agreement are different than those mandated by the applicable statutes, but are nonetheless 

permitted under the law, the provisions of this Agreement shall prevail.  

6.6 Rights.  Except as expressly stated herein, or the Parties to this Agreement 

do not intend to create any rights in any third parties, unless such rights are otherwise irrevocably 

established under HIPAA, or any other applicable law.  

6.7 Assignment.  No Party may assign its rights and obligations under this 

Agreement without the prior written consent of the other Party, except both Parties may assign 

this Agreement to any successors in interest, provided the assignor promptly notifies the other 

Party of such assignment.  



 

Business Associate Agreement - Contractor Page 8 of 9 
1056828.1  

6.8 Independent Parties. Contractor and its agents and employees, in 

performance of this Agreement, shall act in an independent capacity in the performance of this 

Agreement and not as officers or employees or agents of RCEB or Covered Entity. Contractor 

shall be wholly responsible for the manner in which Contractor and its employees perform the 

services required of Contractor by the terms of this Agreement. Contractor shall not be, or in any 

manner represent, imply or hold itself out to be an agent, partner or representative of RCEB.  

Contractor has no right or authority to assume or create in writing or otherwise any obligation of 

any kind, express or implied, for or on behalf of RCEB. The only relationship between 

Contractor and RCEB is that of independent contractors and neither shall be responsible for any 

obligations, liabilities, or expenses of the other, or any act or omission of the other, except as 

expressly set forth herein. 

6.9 Indemnity.  Contractor agrees to indemnify, defend and hold 

harmless RCEB and Covered Entity, and their respective employees, directors, officers, agents, 

subcontractors, or other members of their workforce (collectively, “Indemnitees”) against all 

claims, demands, losses, damages or liability of any type or kind whatsoever, arising from or in 

connection with any breach of this Agreement or of any warranty hereunder or from any 

negligence or wrongful acts or omissions, including failure to perform its obligations under the 

Privacy Rule, the Standard Transactions and Code Sets Regulations, the Security Rule, HITECH 

or other state or federal health information privacy laws by Contractor. Accordingly, on demand, 

(i) Contractor at his own expense and risk, shall defend any suit, claim, action, legal proceeding, 

arbitration, or other mediation proceeding (each, an “Action”), that may be brought against the 

Indemnitees or any of them on any such claim or demand as set forth above (the Indemnitees 

need not have first paid any such claim in order to be so indemnified) and (ii) Contractor shall 

reimburse Indemnitees for any and all losses, liabilities, lost profits, fines, penalties, costs or 

expenses (including reasonable attorneys’ fees) that may for any reason be imposed upon 

Indemnitees as a result of any Action, with counsel reasonably satisfactory to RCEB. This 

Section shall survive the expiration or termination of this Agreement for any reason. 

6.10 Interpretation; Venue; Jurisdiction.  This Agreement shall be construed to 

comply with the requirements of the HIPAA Rules, and any ambiguity in this Agreement shall 

be interpreted to permit compliance with the HIPAA Rules. All other aspects of this Agreement 

shall be governed under the laws of the State of California. All actions between the Parties shall 

be venued in the state or district courts of the County of Alameda. 

6.11 Waiver.  No change, waiver, or discharge of any liability or obligation 

hereunder on any one or more occasions shall be deemed a waiver of performance of any 

continuing or other obligation, nor shall such action prohibit enforcement of any obligation on 

any other occasion.  

6.12 Severability.  If any provision of this Agreement is held by a court of 

competent jurisdiction to be invalid or unenforceable, the remaining provisions shall remain in 

full force and effect.  In addition, if either Party believes in good faith that any provision of this 

Agreement fails to comply with the then-current requirements of the HIPAA Privacy Rule or 

Security Rule, or the HITECH Act, such Party shall notify the other in writing.  For a period of 

up to thirty (30) days, the Parties shall engage in good faith discussions about such concern and, 

if necessary, amend the terms of this Agreement so that it complies with the law.  If the Parties 



 

Business Associate Agreement - Contractor Page 9 of 9 
1056828.1  

are unable to agree upon the need for amendment, or the amendment itself, then either Party has 

the right to terminate this Agreement upon 30 days’ written notice to the other Party. 

6.13 Counterparts; Electronic Copies.  This Agreement may be executed in 

counterparts, each which shall be deemed an original and all of which shall constitute a single 

instrument. Signed copies of this Agreement delivered by fax or in a PDF email file shall be 

deemed the same as originals. 

Executed at San Leandro, California, as of the date first set forth above. 

 

RCEB: 

 

Regional Center of the East Bay, Inc., a 

California nonprofit public benefit corporation 

 

 

By:      

Name: Lynn Nguyen     

Title: Director of Finance and Administration

  

CONTRACTOR: 

R&D Transportation, Inc., a California 

corporation 

 

 

 

By:      

Name: Leticia Leon     

Title:_ Vice President_______________ 

 

 

 

 



RCEB Procedures § 1 - Human Resources 
General Provisions 
 

Page | 1  
  Revised 03/05/25 

 
1150 - Conflict of Interest 

In accordance with the California Code of Regulations, Title 17, Sections 54500 through 54530, and the 
Welfare and Institutions Code Sections 4622, 4626, and 4627, the Regional Center of the East Bay (RCEB) 
has established the following Conflict of Interest Policy to ensure that decisions are made in the best 
interests of the center's consumers and families. 

Purpose 

This policy ensures that all RCEB employees, contractors, consultants, governing board members, and 
executive directors perform their duties with integrity and impartiality, avoiding any actual or potential 
conflicts between personal interests and official responsibilities. The Regional Center of the East Bay 
(RCEB) will comply with conflict of interest standards imposed by law to ensure that employees make 
decisions which are in the best interests of the RCEB’s clients and families.  

 

Scope 
This policy applies to all employees (bargaining, non-bargaining and temporary), contractors, 
consultants, governing board members, and executive directors associated with the organization. 
 

Definitions 

 Conflict of Interest: A situation where a personal, business, or financial interest could 
compromise or appear to compromise the impartiality and objectivity of an individual's official 
duties. 

 Actual or Present Conflict of Interest: An existing conflict of interest. 
 Potential Conflict of Interest: A situation which, based on circumstances reasonably expected to 

occur at a point in the future, may result in a conflict of interest at that time. 
 Financial Interest: Any financial interest, regardless of the dollar amount, including aiming to 

achieve a financial gain or avoid a financial loss. The financial interest may be direct or indirect 
and includes any monetary or proprietary benefit, gain of any sort, or the contingent possibility 
of monetary or proprietary benefits and extends to expectations of economic benefit. Certainty 
of financial gain is not necessary to create a conflict of interest. 

 Direct Financial Interest: when the individual in his or her official capacity, does business with 
himself or herself in his or her private capacity 

 Indirect Financial Interest: if an employee enters into a contract in his/her official capacity with 
an individual or entity, and because of the relationship between the individual or entity to the 
employee, the individual or entity is in a position to render actual or potential pecuniary 
benefits to the employee based on that contract.  

Standards and Procedures 
 Positions Creating Conflicts: 

o A conflict of interest exists when an employee, a member of the board of directors, a 
director, an officer, an owner, a partner, a shareholder, or a trustee of any organization 
either doing or actively planning to do business with RCEB 

o A conflict of interest exists when a regional center governing board member, executive 
director, or a family member of such person holds certain positions with a business 



RCEB Procedures § 1 - Human Resources 
General Provisions 
 

Page | 2  
  Revised 03/05/25 

entity, entity, or provider, as defined in Section 54505, except as permitted by Welfare 
and Institutions Code sections 4622 and 4626.  

o A conflict of interest exists when a regional center employee, contractor, agent, 
consultant, or their family member holds certain positions with a business entity, entity, 
or provider, as defined in Section 54505 that could lead to a conflict with their regional 
center duties.  

o A conflict of interest exists when an employee holds any position of management in any 
business entity or provider either doing or actively planning to do business with RCEB. 

 Financial Interests in Decisions: Individuals must not participate in decisions where they have a 
financial interest that could be affected by the outcome. 

 Financial Interests in Contracts: Individuals are prohibited from being involved in contracts 
where they have a financial interest 

 General Prohibition:  
o Individuals must not engage in activities that present a conflict of interest with their 

official duties.  
o Individuals must not participates in the evaluation of an application for employment or 

bid for position or contract at the Regional Center that is submitted by a family member 

of such person. 

o A conflict of interest exists when a Regional Center employee devotes less than his or 

her full time attention and effort to Regional Center employment during the hours he or 

she is compensated to work. 

o A conflict of interest exists when a Regional Center employee provides services for 

salary, honorarium, or compensation of any kind during the hours he or she is 

compensated to work. This does not apply to Regional Center employees who are 

officially off duty unless it is for reasons identified as a conflict above. 

o A conflict of interest exists when a Regional Center employee accepts a gift or gifts from 

a service provider, consumer, or consumer’s family member valued over fifteen dollars 

($15) per year.  

 Employment of Family Members: 

o A conflict of interest exists when senior staff at the regional center hire relatives at the 
center or any ancillary foundation and organization. Senior staff are identified as people 
in key position that drive the strategic decision-making at each regional center. These 
key positions include: Executive Director, Associate Executive Director or comparable 
positions, if applicable; Members of the regional center’s executive team; the highest-
ranking staff position in each of the following disciplines: 

 Case Management 
 Clinical Services 
 Community Services 
 Finance 
 Human Resources 

 

o No employee can participate in reviewing an application for Regional Center 

employment from a family member. 



RCEB Procedures § 1 - Human Resources 
General Provisions 
 

Page | 3  
  Revised 03/05/25 

o No employee can directly supervise another Regional Center employee or serve as a 

reviewing officer for reports of performance for a Regional Center employee who is a 

family member. Family members are identified as the employee’s spouse, domestic 

partner, siblings, stepsiblings, parents, stepparents, children, stepchildren, parents-in-

law, sisters-in-law, brothers-in-law, daughters-in-law, sons-in-law, grandchildren, and 

grandparents. 

Disclosure Requirements 

 Reporting Statements: Governing board members and executive directors are required to file 
Conflict of Interest Reporting Statements within the specified timelines, in compliance with 
Section 54532. 

 Conflict Resolution Plan: If a present or potential conflict is identified, a Conflict Resolution Plan 
must be submitted as detailed in Section 54533. 

Enforcement and Sanctions 
Failure to comply with this policy may result in disciplinary actions, including termination of employment 
or contracts, as outlined in Section 54535. 
 
Candidates for nomination, election, or appointment to a regional center board and applicants for the 
regional center director are required to disclose any potential or present conflicts of interest prior to 
being appointed, elected or confirmed for hire by the regional center or the regional center governing 
board. 
 
Employees are required to file a conflict of interest statement disclosing any actual and/or potential 
conflict of interest and signed under penalty of perjury with the Human Resources Department at the 
time of employment and annually thereafter, no later than August 1 of each year. 
 
Each employee is required to report any actual and/or potential conflict of interest RCEB Procedures 
that arises after the initial filing to the Human Resources Department 
 
 
Compliance and Training 
All individuals subject to this policy must undergo regular training to understand and adhere to conflict 
of interest laws and organizational standards. 
 
The regional center and its governing board are required to regularly and consistently monitor and 
enforce compliance with its conflict-of-interest policy.  
 
 
Review and Amendments 
This policy will be reviewed annually and updated as necessary to ensure compliance with applicable 
laws and regulations. 
 
Contact Information 
For questions or further information regarding this policy, please contact RCEB’s Human Resources 
Department. 



RCEB Procedures § 1 - Human Resources 
General Provisions 
 

Page | 4  
  Revised 03/05/25 

By adhering to this policy, we commit to maintaining the trust and confidence of the public and 
stakeholders we serve. 

 

 

 

 

 

 


	03.24.2025_BOD Agenda.DRAFT_AH
	02.24.2025_MINUTES_DRAFT
	R&D Transportation Services, INC._FULL Packet
	contract approval form R and D
	RD board summary (002)
	RD Transportation Broker Agt 3-7-2025
	R and D BAA 2025

	COI_revised 032025

